
 
 

CABINET 

GWYNEDD COUNCIL 
 

DATE Tuesday, 9th March, 2021 

TIME 1.00 pm 

LOCATION Virtual Meeting 

CONTACT POINT Annes Siôn 

01286 679490 

cabinet@gwynedd.llyw.cymru 

 

GWYNEDD COUNCIL CABINET MEMBERS 
 

Members 

Dyfrig L. Siencyn Leader 

Dafydd Meurig Deputy Leader, Cabinet Member for 
Adults, Health and Wellbeing 

Craig ab Iago Cabinet Member for Housing 

Gareth Wyn Griffith Cabinet Member for Environment 

Nia Wyn Jeffreys Cabinet Member for Corporate 
Support 

Dilwyn Morgan Cabinet Member for Children and 
Young People 

Gareth Thomas Cabinet Member for Economic 
Development and Community 

Ioan Thomas Cabinet Member for Finance 

Catrin Elen Wager Cabinet Member for Highways and 
Municipal 

Cemlyn Rees Williams Cabinet Member for Education 

 

Complete Agenda



 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

 Item Submitted 
by 

Officer Page 

1   APOLOGIES 

 

   

2   DECLARATION OF PERSONAL 
INTEREST 

 

   

3   URGENT ITEMS 

 

   

4   MATTERS ARISING FROM OVERVIEW 
AND SCRUTINY 

 

   

5   MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 
16 FEBRUARY 2021 

 

  3 - 15 

6   TRANSFER OF LEASE AND 
MANAGEMENT OF COED HELEN - 
CAERNARFON 

 

Cyng / Cllr. 
Gareth 
Thomas 

Sioned 
Williams 

16 - 
19 

7   STRATEGIC SAFEGUARD PANEL 
PROGRESS REPORT 2018-2020 

 

Cyng / Cllr. 
Dilwyn 
Morgan 

Morwena 
Edwards 

20 - 
35 

8   RESPONSE TO THE CONSULTATION 
ON THE WHITE PAPER: RE BALANCING 
CARE AND SUPPORT 

 

Cyng / Cllr. 
Dafydd 
Meurig & 
Cyng / Cllr. 
Dilwyn 
Morgan 

Morwena 
Edwards 

36 - 
89 

9   RESIDENTIAL AND NURSING FEES 
2021-22 

 

Cyng / Cllr. 
Dafydd 
Meurig 

Rhion Glyn 90 - 
96 

10   THE EFFECT OF COVID-19 ON BYW'N 
IACH'S 2021-22 BUDGET 

 

Cyng / Cllr. 
Ioan Thomas 
& Cyn / Cllr. 
Gareth 
Thomas 

Dafydd 
Edwards 

97 - 
99 



THEY CABINET  

 
THE CABINET, TUESDAY, 16 FEBRUARY 2021 

 

 
Present: 
Councillors: Dyfrig Siencyn, Dafydd Meurig, Craig ab Iago, Gareth Wyn Griffith, Nia Wyn 
Jeffreys, Dilwyn Morgan, Gareth Thomas, Ioan Thomas, Catrin Wager and Cemlyn Rees 
Williams  
 
Also present: 
Dilwyn Williams (Chief Executive), Morwena Edwards (Corporate Director), Iwan Evans 
(Head of Legal Services), Dafydd Edwards (Head of Finance Department) and Annes 
Siôn (Democracy Team Leader). 
 
Items 6 and 7: Dafydd Wyn Williams (Head of Environment Department) 
Item 8: Dafydd Gibbard (Head of Housing and Property Department) 
Item 9: Dewi Wyn Jones (Business Support Service Manager) 
Items 10 and 11: Ffion Madog Evans (Senior Finance Manager) 
Item 12: Dewi Morgan (Assistant Head of Finance - Revenue and Risk) 
 
 
1.  APOLOGIES 

 
 The Cabinet Members and Officers were welcomed to the meeting.  

No apologies were received.  
 
 

 
2.  DECLARATION OF PERSONAL INTEREST 

 
 A declaration of interest was received from Cllr Dyfrig Siencyn for item 12 as a 

close family member owned a second home or vacant property.  
 

 
 
3.  URGENT ITEMS 

 
 There were no urgent items. 

 
 
4.  MATTERS ARISING FROM OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

 
 There were no matters arising from overview and scrutiny. 

 
 

 
5.   MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 26 JANUARY 2021 

 
 The Chair accepted the minutes of the meeting held on 26 January 2021 as a 

true record. 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 5



THEY CABINET  

 
6.  BUS EMERGENCY SCHEME (BES) 

 
 The report was submitted by Cllr Gareth Griffith  

 
DECISION 
 
It was agreed that the Council would join the BES2 Scheme in accordance with 
the report.  
 
Delegated powers were granted to the Head of Environment Department in 
consultation with the Head of Finance Department and Head of Legal Services to 
agree and complete the Voluntary Regional Partnership Agreement for the 
implementation of the scheme in North Wales.  
 
DISCUSSION 
 
The report was submitted noting the decision namely that the Council would join 
the Welsh Government's BES2 Scheme in accordance with the report.  
 
The Head of Environment Department added that two schemes had been 
implemented previously to support public transport by ensuring sufficient 
financial support throughout the emergency period. It was highlighted that the 
scheme was a partnership between Local Authorities, Welsh Government, 
Transport Wales and operators. It was noted that the scheme ensured sufficient 
financial support for operators and the objectives seen in the report were 
highlighted. It was emphasised that it was a temporary scheme that would come 
to an end in July 2022 and that it gave more control for Welsh Government and 
Transport Wales in terms of prioritising services and influencing ticket prices. It 
was highlighted that the scheme was far-reaching. 
 
It was noted that it was a period of great change with re-designing across the 
country and the importance of being part of this scheme was highlighted in order 
to influence to ensure specific services in rural services across the county, which 
would be considered as more of a challenge in Gwynedd.  
 
Observations arising from the discussion 

 It was enquired whether or not committing to the temporary scheme would 
further commit the Council to the scheme. It was noted that there was a 
number of work streams and that joining would ensure that streams 
moved forward, highlighting that there was a correlation and that one 
could only influence by joining.  

 It was stated that the recommendation noted to join in order to influence, it 
was enquired what were the implications of not joining. It was stated that it 
was not entirely clear at present, but it was noted that companies would 
see the most impact but the need to be able to influence was emphasised.  

 It was noted that Welsh Government would have a role for the main 
streams but the need for a local role was highlighted in order to look out 
for Gwynedd residents. It was also elaborated that there was much 
expertise locally. It was noted that it was encouraging that Welsh 
Government was interested in the work undertaken by us on social value 

Page 4



THEY CABINET  

when prioritising transport. The need for more control and local expertise 
was explained.  

 Some concerns were highlighted with regards to giving more powers to 
Transport Wales in the field of buses and that this could hinder local 
democracy once again if we were not careful. 

 It was emphasised that the Cabinet Member was part of the North Wales 
Transport Sub-group and that the past year had been very busy in the 
field. Although Welsh Government was eager for this to be adopted 
across the whole of Wales, it was stated that they did not have the 
capacity to consider the whole of Wales and, therefore, local support was 
expected.  

 
 
7.  PARKING REVIEW 
 The report was submitted by Cllr Gareth Griffith.  

 
DECISION  
 

 The amendments to the Parking Strategy were adopted by changing the 
parking management arrangements and implementing the parking fees 
structure in Gwynedd to be implemented from 1 April 2021. It was agreed 
on an additional late adjustment to the report, reconciling the enforcement 
hours of Band 1 Car Parks to be operational between 10am and 4:30pm, 
and to keep the income level under review during 2021/22, with a view to 
assist the Environment Department should the real income from parking 
fees be lower than the target in the budget due to this late adjustment.  

 

 The Head of Environment Department was authorised to take the 
necessary statutory steps to implement the revised fee structure from 1 
April 2021. 

 
DISCUSSION 

 
The report was submitted, noting that it was an item that had been discussed for 
a while but it had been held back as a result of the pandemic. It was stated that 
Council policies had not changed for many years and that the Education and 
Economy Scrutiny Committee had resolved to create a task-force to examine the 
county's arrangements. It was highlighted that this report was the result of the 
task-force's work.  
 
The Head of Environment Department added that the current strategy had been 
adopted back in 2015. It was explained that a number of things had changed 
since then such as an increase in electric vehicles, less use of cash along with an 
increase in the number of outdoor events. Attention was also drawn to the 
increase seen during lastsummer in the number of motor homes. It was 
emphasised that these had highlighted more challenges in terms of parking.  
 
It was noted that the Cabinet and the Full Council had agreed to increase income 
in the field as part of the savings scheme. With an increase in inflation along with 
the savings target, it was highlighted that an income increase of approximately 
£400k would be required. It was explained that the brief of the task-forcewas to 

Page 5



THEY CABINET  

address the increased income but to keep the impact on local residents to a 
minimum. It should be emphasised that the work undertaken by the Task-force 
had been very thorough.  
 
It was noted that the task-force had highlighted that the car park banding system 
was too complex and that it had been simplified from 5 bands to 3.  It was noted 
that the task-force could have increased the price by 10% across the whole 
location but the task-force had decided to look at the field differently and the main 
changes were outlined.  The need to ensure that the short-stay parking fee in the 
main centres remained the same was noted, but that enforcement hours would 
be adapted in Bangor to 9am until 5pm. It was stated that the long-stay price 
would be increased specifically in band 2 car park fees and that there would be 
an increase in season tickets to correspond with inflation.  
 
Parking options during the Christmas period were highlighted along with the 
desire to keep the free parking arrangements in order to support businesses. It 
was noted that consideration had been given to residents and Blue Badge 
holders and that a decision had been made to retain them at present. It was 
noted that the summer period last year had highlighted the need to increase 
parking enforcement resources and to strengthen the team. It was noted that 
these changes not only increased income but identified the changes that had 
been highlighted over the past 6 years and the needs of residents and visitors 
were being met in undertaking the adaptations.  
 
Observations arising from the discussion 

  The importance of including the Scrutiny Committee as part of the 
decision-making process and to examine the impact on the economy 
locally was highlighted.  

 Gratitude was expressed for the work of the task-force but in terms of 
changes to Band 1, it was noted that there may be a local benefit in 
retaining the 10am – 4:30pm period and that retaining it would be 
appreciated by residents.  

 In terms of Motor Homes, it was enquired how it would be managed and 
whether or not consideration had been given to creating specific sites, and 
whether it would be possible to generate income in doing so. It was stated 
that there was a number of considerations and there was a need to 
examine long-term arrangements. It had been highlighted during the 
summer that a number of vehicles had parked in overnight car parks, 
which had created many problems. The need to research the field and to 
come to a conclusion on how to manage it responsibly was noted.  

 Gratitude was expressed for the work and the attempt to simplify it by 
scrutiny members. Concern regarding the increase in Band 2 and 3 and 
the impact it could have on businesses was stated. In addition, in terms of 
residents' parking it was noted that there may be a need to re-examine 
which parts of the county were part of the scheme.  

 Concern regarding increasing a season ticket by £15 was highlighted as it 
would affect residents, and it was enquired whether or not it would be 
possible to use the income to re-invest in the car parks. It was noted that 
the department had a budget to invest in the car parks and that some 
Town and Community Councils had been part of the 10% scheme where 
they charged 10% more in some car parks and received the percentage to 

Page 6



THEY CABINET  

re-invest in their communities.   

 It was agreed on an additional late adjustment to the report, reconciling 
the enforcement hours of Band 1 Car Parks to be operational between 
10am and 4:30pm, and to keep the income level under review during 
2021/22, with a view to assist the Environment Department should the 
actual income from parking fees be lower than the target in the budget due 
to the adjustment.  

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
8.  BUY TO LET SCHEME TO LET PROPERTIES FOR GWYNEDD RESIDENTS 

 
 The report was submitted by Cllr Craig ab Iago.    

 
DECISION 

 
The business case to invest £15.4m to purchase approximately 100 houses to let 
to Gwynedd residents at an affordable rent was approved with every purchase to 
demonstrate its own financial viability on a case-by-case basis.  
 
It was agreed that the Head of Housing and Property Department in consultation 
with the Head of Legal Services and the Head of Finance Department will review 
the statutory arrangements for implementing the Scheme following the 
publication of revised Government Housing Revenue Account Guidance and 
report further to Cabinet if additional decisions are needed.   
 
DISCUSSION 

 
The report was submitted, noting that Gwynedd was currently in the middle of a 
housing crisis. It was stated that the Council had been attempting to raise 
awareness about the problem and had asked both Governments to take action. It 
was noted that the department was endeavouring to find answers within its ability 
and to take action. It was highlighted that this scheme was part of the Housing 
Action Plan and that it was an example of what the department sought to do to 
assist residents. It was noted that it was a pleasure to submit the scheme as it 
was a positive and innovative scheme and found ways of housing residents.  
 
The Head of Housing and Property Department added that the scheme was part 
of the Housing Action Plan.  The purpose of the scheme was highlighted, namely 
to purchase one hundred houses to renovate and let out to residents. It was 
noted that the investment in the Housing Action Plan was approximately £77m 
and the combination of funding sources was noted. It was stated that the Cabinet 
had highlighted its ambition for the scheme by noting its desire for a loan scheme 
for this scheme in accordance with a robust business plan. It was noted that the 
report noted the costs and its funding method and showed that it was a viable 
scheme. It was explained that risks were being highlighted but that a business 
case for each individual purchase would reduce the risks, and that the individual 

Page 7



THEY CABINET  

purchases would not be made if risks were too high.   
 
Observations arising from the discussion 

 Gratitude was expressed for the report and pride was highlighted in 
turning back the clock to see the Council investing once again in housing 
for Gwynedd residents. It was asked whether or not there was a difference 
between housing on the open market and former social housing. It was 
stated that it was difficult to purchase former social housing and, therefore, 
there was a need to be operational in getting social housing back within 
the Council.  

 The scheme was welcomed and it was enquired whether or not it would be 
possible to tailor the scheme for specific families. It was noted that there 
was a need for rented housing within the county and that a range of 
housing was required for people who needed support but it would 
obviously have to be prioritised.  

 It was asked whether or not it would be possible to extend and purchase 
more than 100 houses should the scheme be a success. It was stated that 
it would be possible to extend the scheme if it worked easily and that they 
would come back to the Cabinet to note if there was a case to change the 
number of housing.  

 It was emphasised that there was an element of risk to the scheme, but 
that the Council was currently taking a venturous leap to create an 
opportunity for Gwynedd residents. If it worked, it was emphasised that it 
would be possible to borrow more money and to re-visit if it was a success 
but this would need to be proven over an extended period. 

 
 

 
 
9.  GWYNEDD COUNCIL PLAN 2018-23 - REVIEW FOR 2021/22 

 
 The report was submitted by Cllr Dyfrig Siencyn 

 
DECISION 

 
The Gwynedd Council Plan for 2018-23, 2021/22 Review was approved subject 
to amendments to the wording of Priority 4 and Priority 7, and to recommend that 
the Full Council adopts the Plan at its Full Council meeting on 4 March 2021.  
 
DISCUSSION 
 
The report was submitted noting that the scheme was being submitted noting the 
work of the Council over the past year. It was noted that sessions had been held 
with all members who had showed their support to the improvement priorities.  It 
was stated that the sessions with all members had highlighted that the 
appearance of communities was essentially important for residents this year.  
 
It was emphasised that positive elements had arisen as a result of Covid-19, 
namely the desire of residents to help each other and to volunteer. Members had 
noted the need to keep the momentum of helping and volunteering for the future.  
 

Page 8



THEY CABINET  

Observations arising from the discussion 

 It was emphasised that looking after your local area was very important 
and that the Clean and Tidy Communities scheme was one of the priorities 
of the Highways and Municipal Department. It was hoped that the scheme 
would meet the needs of members and work with the communities.  

 In terms of priority 4.5, Businesses Receiving Support to Prosper, it was 
highlighted that there were awful problems,  not only as a result of Covid-
19, but due to the way the Government dealt with Brexit as well.  

 It was noted that sessions with members had been encouraging, with 
issues raised being included within schemes such as the Area 
Regeneration Plan. 

 Attention was drawn to the amendments to note in priority 4.4, The 
transfer of holiday units from Council Tax to Business Rates, in order to 
add a wording regarding the planning work that was ongoing in the field. 
Priority 7.4  - Realising Savings, was also to be amended in order to 
highlight that the savings programme had reviewed the need to achieve 
the amended order.  

 
 
10.  THE COUNCIL'S CAPITAL STRATEGY   

 
 The report was submitted by Cllr Ioan Thomas  

 
DECISION 
 
It was agreed to: 

 finance the funding gap for Canolfan Dolfeurig (£600,000) 

 finance the funding gap for the former Llanrug school house site 
(£150,000) and recoup the majority of the initial investment by selling the 
house and part of the land for affordable housing to local people and to 
make improvements to the primary school 

 that a further £2m is provided to commence work on constructing industrial 
units in the county 

 wait to see what the outcome of the discussions held with Welsh 
Government regarding Barmouth Promenade will be, before considering 
any further allocations in the Asset Plan.  

 
DISCUSSION 

 
The report was submitted noting that the Full Council had adopted an Asset Plan 
for a ten year period back in March 2019. It was highlighted that the plan 
anticipated the resources the Council would have for the 10 years and prioritised 
all of the plans proposed by the Departments. It was emphasised that the Plan 
was live and flexible and that the resources situation had changed somewhat 
since the plan had been approved.  
 
It was stated that there had been an awareness at the time of preparing the Plan 
that it would be possible that additional schemes could come forward   and it was 
agreed to reserve £0.5m per year in order to address the requirements for small 
schemes mainly. It was reiterated that substantial schemes needed consideration 
for 2021/22. Attention was drawn to Canolfan Dolfeurig in Dolgellau explaining 

Page 9



THEY CABINET  

that when the scheme was initially considered, a request had been made for 
£1.2m, but after undertaking further work, costs were nearer to £1.8m.  
 
The demand for industrial units across the county in recent years was 
highlighted, and although the North Wales Growth Deal ensured strategic sites, 
the need for smaller units to meet local demand was noted. On the basis that  
units would cost approximately £200,000 each (excluding land costs), it was 
asked for the Cabinet's support to add funding in order to ensure it.  
 
It was originally stated that the Council had anticipated that £1.6m would need to 
be spent on the restoration of the promenade in Barmouth as a result of damage. 
Also, as a result of undertaking much more detailed work, it was highlighted that 
the cost of restoring would likely be between £16m and £22.5m, which meant 
that the Council would need to find £3.75m as a contribution in order to deliver 
the work.  
 
At its meeting in October 2017, the Cabinet agreed to purchase a piece of land 
near Ysgol Gynradd Llanrug, in case it would be required for educational 
purposes in the future. By now, it was noted that only an element of the land 
would be required and that it would be possible to re-claim an element of the cost 
by selling pieces of the land for affordable housing but it was highlighted that a 
likely gap would need to be funded.  
 
Since the plan had been approved, it was explained that the Council had 
received various grants that could be used rather than using the Asset Plan 
resources, and along with a higher than anticipated capital settlement, over 
£5.5m was available for the Cabinet to consider how they wished to use it.  
 
 
Observations arising from the discussion 

 Support was given to Canolfan Dolfeurig as there was a real need for a 
new building and it was an excellent asset for the south of the county.  

 Support was noted for industrial buildings as specific support was needed 
for small businesses.  

 In terms of Barmouth Promenade and after undertaking further work, it 
was noted that there was a real need to undertake the work to ensure that 
the Council kept residents safe, but the additional pressures on coastal 
councils to fund work of this type were highlighted.  

 
 

 
 
11.  2021/22 BUDGET 

 
 The report was submitted by Cllr Ioan Thomas   

 
DECISION 

 
It was agreed to recommend the following to the Full Council on 4 March: 
 

1. Establish a budget of £271,751,360 for 2021/22 to be funded through a 

Page 10



THEY CABINET  

Government Grant of £194,793,140 and £76,958,220 of Council Tax 
income with 
an increase of 3.7%.  

2. Establish a capital programme of £47,085,960 in 2021/22, to be funded 
from the sources noted in Appendix 4 of the report. 

 
It was noted that the figures in recommendation 1 above would change in line 
with the figures in Appendix 6 of the report should the Full Council increase the 
Council Tax Premium from 50% to 100%. 
 
 
DISCUSSION 

 
The report was submitted noting that the Council this year had received a grant 
increase, which met inflation and was a fairer settlement than those in the years 
before 2020/21. Nevertheless, as unavoidable increases in the cost of some core 
services needed to be funded, it was noted that the Tax would have to be 
increased by 3.7%. It was emphasised that increasing the tax was necessary in 
order to protect essential services for the people of Gwynedd, as it would be 
impractical to implement additional savings schemes this year. 
 
Attention was drawn to the fact that most Council members had attended a series 
of consultation workshops, and a positive discussion had been held at the Audit 
and Governance Committee. By 2021/22, it was noted that expenditure would 
need to increase by £10.6m in order to stand still, including £3.6m to meet 
pressures on the services’ budgets. In order to address the financial gap, it was 
explained that £725k could be harvested in 2021/22 from the savings schemes 
already planned, but Council Tax would have to be increased by 3.7%. 
 
It was added that the Welsh Government’s official figures showed that the 
Council would receive a grant increase of £6.4m by next year, which was an 
increase of 3.4%. It was explained that Welsh Government would announce the 
final grant settlement on 2 March, along with the Welsh Government's final 
budget. The Cabinet was guided through the revenue expenditure highlighting 
that the estimated salary inflation was £3.5m. Despite the UK Government 
Chancellor’s desire for a pay freeze, it was noted that there would be a pay 
increase of £250 pro rata to staff on salaries of £24,000 or less, together with 
prudent provision for all Council staff. It was also highlighted that there would be 
a 3.1% salary increase for Gwynedd’s school teachers for the period April – 
August 2021.  
 
It was noted that other inflation was £2.6m, which included provision for the effect 
of the ‘living wage’, along with an increase in inflation on fuel and energy budgets 
and an increase in re-tendering prices. It was emphasised that there were 
pressures on services and it was recommended to approve applications worth 
£3.59m that had been submitted by the departments for additional permanent 
resources. It was noted that total Government support in light of the Covid-19 
crisis was expected to be in the region of £20m by the end of 2020/21 and it was 
anticipated that the Government would continue to compensate for additional 
costs and loss of income in the next financial year.  
 

Page 11



THEY CABINET  

Attention was drawn to decisions made by the Cabinet on 26 January 2021 to 
defer or eliminate unrealisable historic savings, highlighting that a net total of 
£725k in savings could be used to reduce the 2020/21 budget funding gap.  
 
In order to set up the budget, it was noted that a gap of £77m would need to be 
met by increasing the Council Tax by 3.7%. It was emphasised that the choice 
between maintaining services and taxing was a difficult one, but it was noted that 
the average tax increase of the other local authorities across Wales was likely to 
be around 4.1%.  
 
Observations arising from the discussion 

 It was highlighted that there was an Education bid as a result of new 
legislation, and that the Government had noted that it would be a neutral 
cost, but it was highlighted that there were risks as a result of the 
legislation that needed to be funded.  

 It was noted that nobody liked to increase taxes but there was a need for 
the money to be available to support residents. It was noted that the 
Finance Department sympathised with residents and referred them for 
support via benefits or allowed them time to pay.  

 The officers were thanked for their work and the members for their input.  
 

 
 
12.  COUNCIL TAX PREMIUM ON SECOND HOMES AND LONG-TERM EMPTY 

PROPERTIES  
 

 The report was submitted by Cllr Ioan Thomas    
 

DECISION 
 
It was resolved to recommend to the Full Council in March that Gwynedd 
Council: 

 Allows no discount on class A second homes, in accordance with Section 
12 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 

 Allows no discount and raises a premium of 100% on class B second 
homes, in accordance with Section 12B of the Local Government Finance 
Act 1992 

 Allows no discount on homes that have been empty for 6 months or more 
and raises a premium of 100% on homes that have been empty for 12 
months or more, in accordance with Section 12A of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1992. 

 
DISCUSSION 

 
The report was submitted noting that the Full Council in December had resolved 
to defer a decision on the Council Tax Premium on second homes and long-term 
empty properties. It was noted that the Council had requested the Cabinet to hold 
a consultation on the propriety of increasing the level up to 100% in accordance 
with Section 12, 12B and 12A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992.  
 
According to the 1992 Act, it was noted that any decision on the Premium must 

Page 12



THEY CABINET  

be made by the Full Council before the commencement of the relevant financial 
year and, therefore, it was not possible to delay the decision. The context was 
highlighted noting the regulations of the Council Tax where 'second homes' had 
been categorised into two classes (A & B) and that class C referred to empty 
properties. The numbers within Gwynedd were reported - 811 within class A, 
4,718 within Class B, and 1,130 in class C in November 2020.  
 
When giving councils powers to raise a Premium of up to 100%, it was noted that 
the Government had published statutory guidance to administrate the Premium. It 
was added that the guidance outlined what needed to be considered by the 
Council when proposing to introduce the Premium.  It was noted that when the 
Premium was introduced back in 2016, attention had been given to two studies, a 
detailed analysis undertaken in 2013 along with the 2013-16 Housing Strategy. It 
was noted that the Council had now adopted a new Housing Strategy and two 
key reports, namely Holiday Homes Research Work and the Housing Action 
Plan.  
 
The consultation responses were outlined, noting that the consultation had been 
advertised on social media and letters had been sent to every second home and 
long-term empty property owner informing them of the consultation. 6,227 
responses had been received to the questionnaire and approximately 100 
separate letters and messages. From the responses, 41% stated that they did 
not own a second home, 53% noted that they owned a second home.  
 
It was noted that almost 4 in 5 respondents who owned a second home thought 
that second homes had a positive impact on local communities, while 3 in 5 
respondents who did not own a second home thought that they had a negative 
impact on local communities. A clear difference of opinion was seen with the 
question of whether it was appropriate to increase the level, with 61% of those 
stating that they did not own a property that was the subject of the Premium 
feeling that it was appropriate, while 95.5% of second home owners stated that it 
was inappropriate.  
 
Attention was drawn to one of the very common arguments from owners who 
noted that they contributed to the economic benefit of Gwynedd by shopping 
locally and giving work to local traders. It was highlighted by some respondents 
that their second homes had been in the possession of their family for a number 
of years, and that their income was relatively low and that the Council Tax was 
not as affordable to them as the general belief suggested.  It was highlighted that 
the evidence noted that second home Council Tax bands tended to be higher 
than those of Gwynedd as a whole.  
 
It was noted that when the original decision had been made to charge a 
Premium, the risk was identified of an increase in the number of properties 
transferring to being self-catering holiday units, which were subject to non-
domestic rates. A risk was highlighted that increasing the Premium would 
incentivise more owners 
to let their properties and transfer them to the non-domestic rating list. It was 
noted that latest figures showed that a total of 2,106 properties had transferred 
from the Council Tax list to the Non-domestic Rating list, and that 90% of these 
received full small business rates relief, which meant that no local taxation was 

Page 13



THEY CABINET  

payable.. A high number of respondents noted that their property had been 
inherited, and that they had no desire to start letting it commercially.  
 
It was highlighted that recent experiences when administering Government 
Covid-19 business grants, had shown that a number of individuals and 
companies were now buying properties in Gwynedd specifically with the intention 
of converting them into self-catering holiday units, rather than using them as a 
second home. It was noted that properties that had transferred to self-catering 
holiday units since 1 April 2018 were in lower bands, and closer to the common 
picture of Gwynedd's housing stock. It was emphasised that an average of over 
400 properties a year had been lost from the Council Tax bands, which was a 
loss of £286,000 of Premium yield per annum.  
 
When looking at long-term empty properties, it was noted that some second 
home owners had noted that there was a need to focus on increasing the 
Premium on long-term empty properties, claiming that these were the real causes 
of social problems. It was highlighted that the number of long-term empty 
properties was relatively low compared to the number of second homes. In 
comparison with the second homes, it was explained that long-term empty 
properties in Gwynedd tended to be in lower Council Tax bands than the 
Gwynedd housing stock as a whole.  
 
It was noted that the Council, in accordance with the Well-being of Future 
Generations Act, had adopted well-being objectives and it was emphasised that 
the Housing Strategy was intertwined with the objectives. It was also highlighted 
that the Council was confident that Members and officers had taken all 
reasonable steps to ensure that any actions taken had been made in order to 
comply with legislative requirements.  It was also noted that an Equality Impact 
Assessment had been prepared and there was a need to address the findings 
and duties under the Equality Act 2010 when coming to a decision. 
 
Observations arising from the discussion 

 It was noted that 11% of the county's housing stock was now second 
homes and that the situation was worsening as a result of a number of 
people working from home and, therefore, they did not have to reside in 
the big cities. It was noted that there was a need to provide the best 
county to our residents and tourists and, therefore, there was a need to 
increase the Premium by 100% to ensure housing and support for 
Gwynedd residents.  

 It was noted that the Report on Second Homes in Gwynedd had been 
submitted to Welsh Government, and the Minister had welcomed the 
report and would undertake further research, and  had also reminded the 
Council of the ability to charge a Premium on Second Homes.  

 It was noted that the report responded to a housing crisis, but it was 
highlighted that visitors were needed to ensure that the economy was 
thriving, in order for communities to benefit. Attention was drawn to the 
observation that second homes benefited the economy, but it was asked 
what would be the benefit should the dwelling be used on a full-time 
basis?  

 It was noted that the situation was complex and, with long-term empty 
properties, it was highlighted that every case tended to be unique and it 

Page 14



THEY CABINET  

may be an idea to have a conversation with owners to discuss how it 
would be possible for empty properties to be brought back into use.  

 Gratitude was expressed for the work and it was noted that some 
observations from individuals alleged there was a racist motive, but 
attention was drawn to the equality report, which highlighted that the 
Premium was solely determined by the characteristics of properties, and 
not the characteristics of individuals.  

 Gratitude was expressed for the high number of responses and sympathy 
was expressed to some individuals, but it was emphasised that there was 
a housing crisis within the county. The principle that the Council was eager 
for residents to have homes in their own communities was emphasised, in 
order to ensure thriving communities. It was added that housing was a 
priority and that it was a requirement to ensure additional resources in 
order to implement the Housing Strategy.  

 It was agreed to allow no discount and to raise a premium of 100% on 
class B and class C second homes, and to allow no discount on Class A 
second homes.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

The meeting commenced at 1.00pm and concluded at 5.00pm.  
 

 

 

CHAIR 
 

 

 
 

Page 15



GWYNEDD COUNCIL CABINET 

 

Report to a meeting of Gwynedd Council Cabinet 
 

Date of meeting:  9 March 2021 

Cabinet Member:  Councillor Gareth Thomas  

Contact Officer: Sioned Williams 

Contact Telephone 
Number: 

Ext 32547 

Title of Item: Transfer of Lease and Management of Coed Helen 
Site, Caernarfon to Caernarfon Town Council 

 
 

1 THE REASON FOR THE NEED FOR A DECISION 

Gwynedd Council currently contributes £12,450 to the Byw'n Iach Company 
towards the annual running costs of Coed Helen Park. The Council's savings 
programme has identified a savings target of £155,000 for the Byw'n Iach 
company. Transferring the management of Coed Helen Park would mean an 
annual saving of £12,450 in terms of site management costs, which would 
contribute towards the above target. 

 
2 THE DECISION SOUGHT 

Lease and transfer the management of Coed Helen Park, Caernarfon to 
Caernarfon Town Council. 

 
3 INTRODUCTION 

In December 2014, Gwynedd Council approved its savings programme that 
included £1.05m of savings by the Leisure Service to be realised by 2018/19 
through a series of changes to the service management arrangements. The 
Department has managed to realise these savings and as part of the process, 
a business case was developed to establish a Gwynedd Council controlled 
Company to undertake the future management of the Leisure Service. The 
scheme was adopted by the Full Council on 5 October 2017 and the Byw'n Iach 
Ltd. company became operational on 1 April 2019.  
 
The business case was established on a service that included the running of 12 
of the Council's Leisure Centres. But also for these centres, the Leisure Service 
was also responsible for five community resources, namely: 

 Coed Helen Park, Caernarfon  

 Waunfawr Synthetic Pitch  

 Brynrefail Synthetic Pitch 

 Safle’r Bwthyn, Deiniolen  

 Strand Street Pitch, Bangor  

 
 

 
 

Page 16

Agenda Item 6



Each one of these resources are used by local clubs and are key leisure 
resources within their communities. It was considered that transferring them to 
the control of the Byw'n Iach Company was not the most effective arrangement 
to ensure that local voices maintained the sites and made the most of the 
resources to benefit the community, but rather to work with local partners in 
order to identify alternative arrangements.  
 
The Department's priority was to ensure a smooth transfer of the Service to the 
Byw'n Iach company in order to protect the interests of staff and service users. 
Within the transfer timetable, there was insufficient time to allow discussions 
with local partners regarding control of the community resources. It was 
resolved to transfer all of the resources as a temporary measure to the 
Company on the condition that the Economy and Community Department would 
commence discussions with the local partners to consider alternative 
arrangements for the future. 
Over the past two years, the Economy and Community Department has held 
discussions with a number of community groups and entities e.g. Community 
Councils, local schools and enterprises as well as commercial enterprises, to 
see if there would be an interest and more effective arrangements to manage 
the resources. There has been good progress in a number of cases. 
 
Positive discussions have been held between Gwynedd Council officers and 
the Caernarfon Town Council Executive Committee regarding the potential 
transfer of Coed Helen Park. The Park is an important resource for residents 
and visitors to Caernarfon. There is a number of facilities there, which include: 
 

 Football, rugby and cricket pitches 

 Bowling-green 

 Small golf course  

 Skate park 

 Play equipment 

 Parking spaces 

 A building that includes toilets, changing rooms, office as well as a flat 

for the Caretaker. 

 

At its meeting on 1 October 2019, the Town Council resolved to accept the 
transfer of the Park on a 99 year lease, and for a nominal sum. The lease would 
be subject to the extant lease for the benefit of the Bowling Club and a 
commitment from the Town Council to continue with the current licence 
arrangements in relation to the Cricket Club.  The current post of the site 
caretaker would be abolished and the Byw'n Iach Ltd. company has 
commenced discussions in terms of the redundancy. The existing employment 
contract of the caretaker gives her the right to reside in the flat located on the 
site, and Caernarfon Town Council has committed to offer the caretaker a new 
lease for the flat, when the site is transferred. 
 
The Town Council is happy to maintain the existing services for the community, 
while also seeking opportunities to improve the facilities for the future. 
Caernarfon Town Council will consider different management options, including 
charging a parking fee for long stay vehicles. Overnight parking is a problem on 
the site and it is considered that more income can be generated by providing 
resources for visitors to stay. The Town Council is not eager to charge parking 
fees on short stay park users, and Gwynedd Council will discuss the details of 
their plans over the coming months.  Page 17



 
In principle, Gwynedd Council has agreed to contribute towards maintaining the 
play equipment for up to three years after the transfer. 
 

4 THE RATIONALE AND JUSTIFICATION FOR RECOMMENDING THE 
DECISION 

Gwynedd Council has transferred all its leisure service management resources 
to the Byw'n Iach Company. There is an agreement in place between Gwynedd 
Council and the Company to provide the service, but in 2019 Gwynedd Council 
resolved to reduce the cost of the £155,000 agreement in the long term as part 
of its Savings Programme. This target is very challenging and the Company will 
consider different measures to introduce in 2021/22 onwards in order to meet 
the funding gap. 
 
The purpose and vision of the Byw’n Iach Company is: 

 
'Offer sustainable leisure and fitness services, of the highest quality to our 
communities, in order to improve everyone's health, well-being, fitness, and 
skills.  
Every resident a customer - every family improving their health and well-being 
- every community benefiting.'  
 
Although it collaborates with a wide range of clubs and partners across 
Gwynedd to achieve this vision, the Byw’n Iach Company does not manage 
leisure parks that are similar to Coed Helen Park in any other community in 
Gwynedd. It is considered that running an urban leisure park in Caernarfon is 
not a priority for the company and that it can divert its efforts to achieve the 
purpose across the county.  
 
Transferring the resource would generate a financial saving of up to £12,450 
and it is recommended that this budget is used in 2021/22 to fund any 
redundancy costs and investment costs in the Park. Gwynedd Council's 
agreement with the Byw'n Iach company will need to be reviewed in order to 
reflect the change but it will be possible to use the saving as a contribution 
towards the income target for the future. 
 
The Department has considered different options to manage the Park in future, 
including the management of a commercial partner. However, it became 
apparent that the proposed development was unlikely to take place and it is not 
considered that another private company would invest in the leisure resources.  
 
When considering the existing use of the Park and future opportunities, the 
Economy and Community Department is of the opinion that collaborating with 
Caernarfon Town Council would be the best arrangement to safeguard the use 
of the site for the local community in future. 

 
Transferring to the Town Council would not change the use of the Park for local 
residents in the short term or the visitor experience. With the support of the 
Community Support Service, Gwynedd Council would be able to assist 
Caernarfon Town Council to invest in the site in future in order to reflect local 
wishes. 
 

Page 18



The Council is statutorily required to ensure best value for its assets in 
accordance with Section 123 of the Local Government Act 1972. There is no 
intention to transfer for less than the market value. In accordance with the 
requirements of Section 123 (2A) of the Act and as the site was open public 
land the proposal had to be advertised before a decision was made on disposal. 
This was done in accordance with the Act and no objections were received 
within the advertising period. 
 
It should be noted that the proposal involves leasing the property, and should 

the lease for the Town Council be wound up in future, the site would remain in 

the ownership of Gwynedd Council. 

There is an objection from a local Councillor for Gwynedd Council to transfer the 
management of the site to Caernarfon Town Council. In accordance with the 
constitution of Gwynedd Council, in such a situation, the matter is referred to the 
attention of the Council Cabinet for a decision.  

 
6 NEXT STEPS AND TIMETABLE 

If the Gwynedd Council Cabinet supports the proposal to transfer Coed Helen 
Park, a lease will be prepared to transfer the site to Caernarfon Town Council 
during 2021/22. 

 
7 ANY CONSULTATIONS UNDERTAKEN PRIOR TO RECOMMENDING THE 

DECISION 

 

Chief Finance Officer's Comments  
 
I confirm that Gwynedd Council, as part of this agreement with Byw'n Iach, 
contributes an annual sum of £12,450 towards the annual running costs of 
Coed Helen Park. Once the responsibility for the Park is transferred to the Town 
Council, we would then expect the first call on the savings to contribute towards 
any unavoidable transitional costs, such as redundancy costs; with the 
permanent savings then contributing towards the Council's savings 
programme, which has identified a target of £155,000 for the Byw’n Iach 
company. 
 
I note the opinion of the Economy and Community Department that transferring 
the Park to the Town Council is the best arrangement in order to secure the 
future of the Park, by investing and fulfilling the wishes of local residents. As 
Caernarfon Town Council is willing to take responsibility for the Park, which will 
lead to savings for Gwynedd Council, I support the recommendation. 
 
 
The Monitoring Officer’s Comments 
 

The report contains appropriate recommendations and has addresses the 
requirement in relation to the transfer of such properties. I also confirm that 
the reason for presenting the matter to the Cabinet is in accordance with the 
Constitution. 
 

 

  

 

Page 19



 

GWYNEDD COUNCIL CABINET 

 

Report to a meeting of Gwynedd Council Cabinet 
 

Date of meeting:  9 March 2021 

Cabinet Member:  Councillor Dilwyn Morgan 

Contact Officer: Morwena Edwards, Corporate Director 

Title of Item: Strategic Safeguarding Panel Progress Report 2018-2020 

 
 

1. THE DECISION SOUGHT 
 
1.1   The Cabinet is asked to accept the report on the work of the Strategic 

Safeguarding Children and Adults Panel. 
 

2. THE REASON FOR THE NEED FOR A DECISION 
 

2.1. It is essential that Cabinet members are aware of the Panel’s work on safeguarding 
and are satisfied that the Panel has undertaken the required work in a thorough and 
conscientious manner. 
 

2.2. The Statutory Director is required to consistently and regularly report upon 
safeguarding matters to members. 
 

3. INTRODUCTION 
 

3.1. The purpose of this report is to update my fellow members on what has been 
achieved by the Strategic Safeguarding Panel during the period December 2018 – 
December 2020.  
 

3.2. It is considered that the report accurately and fairly summarises the work of the 
Strategic Safeguarding Panel, and it also includes references to reports or 
observations made by external inspectors in relation to this work. 
 

3.3. 2020 was a very different year for everyone, with the far-reaching impacts of 
Covid-19. Consequently, this report is published later than usual, as a number of 
the Council's staff have been redeployed to the work of supporting our 
communities. This report therefore relates to the work over a period of two years 
rather than one year. The essential work of safeguarding our residents has of 
course continued, it is only the task of reporting on this work that has been 
delayed.   

 
4. NEXT STEPS AND TIMETABLE 

 
4.1. None to note. 

 

Page 20

Agenda Item 7



 
 

 
5. Views of the Statutory Officers: 
 

i) The Monitoring Officer: 
 
As a member of this Panel, I welcome this report that appropriately 
summarises its work. It provides the Cabinet with assurance about this key 
responsibility. 

 
ii) Head of Finance: 

 
I understand that accepting this report does not bind the Council to any 
new/additional expenditure.  

 

 

6. Appendices 
 
Strategic Safeguarding Panel Report 2018-2020 
 

 

Page 21



1 
 

 

ANNUAL REPORT OF THE STRATEGIC 

SAFEGUARDING PANEL 

2018-2020 

  

Page 22



2 
 

1. INTRODUCTION 

 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to outline the work of the Strategic Safeguarding Panel 

(Strategic Panel) for the period December 2018 to December 2020, giving a clear and 

fair picture of the work achieved and to summarise the opinion of external inspectors 

on the work. 

 

1.2 As a result of the Covid-19 pandemic in 2020, this report is published later than usual, 

as several Council staff have been redeployed to the work of supporting our 

communities. Therefore, this document reports on work over a period of two years 

rather than one year. The essential work of safeguarding our residents has of course 

continued, it is only the task of reporting on this work that has been delayed.   

1.3  The report outlines the work achieved by the Council itself and by the Council in 

partnership with others, during the period in question. If information regarding 

safeguarding work by the Council has already been published, such as in the Annual 

Report of the Director of Social Services, by external inspectors, or by other 

organisations, we refer the reader to those documents rather than reiterating this 

information.  A list of these reports can be seen in Section 9.  

1.4  Lastly, the report outlines the future priorities of the Strategic Safeguarding Panel. 

2. RESPONSIBILITIES AND ACCOUNTABILITY 

2.1  The aim of the Strategic Safeguarding Panel is to ensure that appropriate arrangements 

and procedures are in place at a corporate level across the Council to ensure the safety 

of children, young people and adults. Since 2017/18 the Panel is also responsible for an 

overview of wider safeguarding issues across Gwynedd, such as Community Safety.     

2.2  The Panel in turn is accountable to the Statutory Director of Social Services, namely the 

Corporate Director in the Council's case, who has the final accountability for 

safeguarding issues.   

2.3  The Chair of the Panel for the period in question was Councillor Dilwyn Morgan, Cabinet 

Member for Children and Young People, supported by the Corporate Director, 

Morwena Edwards. The other members were:  Cabinet Member for Adults, Health and 

Well-being; Education; Corporate Support; Heads of Children and Supporting Families, 

Adults, Health and Well-being, Education;  Monitoring Officer; Gwynedd and Anglesey 

Community Safety Partnership Manager and the Chair of the Safeguarding Operational 

Panel.    

2.4  The Safeguarding Operational Panel supports the Strategic Panel to implement its 

priorities and to deal with operational and practical issues in the area of work. This is an 

Page 23

https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/cy/Cyngor/Dogfennau-Cyngor/Perfformiad-y-Cyngor/Adr-Blyn-Cyfarwyddwr-GC-201920-ir-wefan-HYG.pdf
https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/cy/Cyngor/Dogfennau-Cyngor/Perfformiad-y-Cyngor/Adr-Blyn-Cyfarwyddwr-GC-201920-ir-wefan-HYG.pdf
https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/cy/Cyngor/Dogfennau-Cyngor/Perfformiad-y-Cyngor/Adr-Blyn-Cyfarwyddwr-GC-201920-ir-wefan-HYG.pdf
https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/cy/Cyngor/Dogfennau-Cyngor/Perfformiad-y-Cyngor/Adr-Blyn-Cyfarwyddwr-GC-201920-ir-wefan-HYG.pdf
https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/cy/Cyngor/Dogfennau-Cyngor/Perfformiad-y-Cyngor/Adr-Blyn-Cyfarwyddwr-GC-201920-ir-wefan-HYG.pdf
https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/cy/Cyngor/Dogfennau-Cyngor/Perfformiad-y-Cyngor/Adr-Blyn-Cyfarwyddwr-GC-201920-ir-wefan-HYG.pdf


3 
 

internal panel of officers, with the safeguarding champion of each Council department 

serving on it, to ensure the ownership of safeguarding issues by the whole Council.    

2.5  The Council's performance in the safeguarding field is assessed by independent external 

inspectors as part of their work in assessing wider performance. Links to the external 

inspectors' reports can be seen in Section 8.  

3. WORK ACHIEVED DURING THE PERIOD DECEMBER 2018 TO DECEMBER 2020  

3.1  Up to 2018 safeguarding issues were a priority area within the Council's Plan in order to 

focus its energy on updating the arrangements. The next natural step was to build upon 

those arrangements during the period up to the present, and of course in the future.   

3.2  The Strategic Panel set itself a challenge for this period, namely to focus on making 

progress in four priority areas.    

3.3 1. Governance Arrangements of the Safeguarding Strategic Panel 

Purpose: Review and Improve the Governance Arrangements of the Strategic Safeguarding 

Panel and the Operational Panel 

What needed to be done? Progress made  The future 

Develop measures to 

measure performance 

against the purpose  

A work programme and a communication 
plan for safeguarding messages with staff, 
are continually fine-tuned. The current 
update has been agreed by the Operational 
Panel in December 2020.  A questionnaire 
was used to conduct a survey of staff 
awareness of their responsibilities in the 
safeguarding field between January and 
February 2020, and it is a method of 
measuring the success of the Operational 
Panel's work.  Amendments were made to 
the work programme following the 
assessment of the results.   

Attendance in the Operational Panel has 
increased over this period as each 
departmental champion has stronger 
reporting responsibilities, especially when 
gathering information about DBS 
judgements.  

It is deemed that we need to continue to 
build upon the work of developing measures 
and the Operational Panel will continue with 
the work.  

Further 
progress is 
needed to 
ensure that 
the measures 
are 
incorporated 
in the work 
of 
departments.   

Page 24



4 
 

Ensure that the 

appropriate administrative 

and specialist support is 

available for the work 

within the Panels.  

The Strategic Panel and the Operational 
Panel receive administrative support via the 
Democracy Service. The support of practical 
services such as the Organisational Learning 
and Development Service and 
Communication and Engagement enable 
the work programmes to be realised.   

Delivered - 
continue to 
maintain the 
standard 

Ensure that the Panels 
meet within the 
Performance Cycle.   

The Strategic and Operational Panels have 
met regularly throughout the period in 
question, and have also continued to meet 
virtually over the Covid-19 period.   

Continue to 
maintain the 
standard 

Adapting the Terms of 

Reference 

The new Terms of Reference is in place, and 
the membership and accountability 
arrangements are clear.    

Attendance in meetings has strengthened, 
with the Operational Panel focusing 
specifically on embedding the responsibility 
for safeguarding matters across all Council's 
departments.  This has ensured regular 
attendance from a representative from 
every department, with everyone 
contributing to specialist elements.   

The Corporate Safeguarding Policy has been 
updated, and the Departmental Policies are 
in the work programme for delivery by the 
end of the 2020/21 financial year.  

Continue to 
maintain the 
standard and 
complete 
Departmental 
Policies 

 

3.4 2. Regional Safeguarding Meeting Arrangements  

Purpose: To better understand the local and regional safeguarding landscape 

What needed to be done? Progress made  The future 

Conduct an audit to 

analyse all the local and 

regional meetings within 

the Safeguarding field.  

 

Work has been undertaken at a regional 
level during 2020 to review, simplify and 
avoid duplication in terms of all the groups 
that exist and are active in the safeguarding 
and community safety area.  
Collaboration across the counties of 
Gwynedd and Anglesey has strengthened by 
having 2 Coordinators who work across both 
counties.    
There is further work to be done to see how 
the audit outcomes change the local 
landscape.   

Reflect on the 
local 
arrangements 
as a result of 
regional 
changes 

Page 25



5 
 

Review and rationalise the 
Safety Partnership regional 
groups  

The work of reviewing and rationalising has 
been completed, and a new structure is in 
place.  Gwynedd Council officers have been 
identified to be part of the regional groups 
and they will report back at a local level.  

Discussions 
will take 
place on how 
to continue 
to administer 
the meetings  

 

3.5 3. Adults at Risk  

Purpose: Ensure that Gwynedd Council's response to 'adults at risk' corresponds to the 

requirements of the Social Services and Well-being Act (Wales) 2014. 

What needed to be done? Progress made  The future 

Undertake a review of the 

Council's Internal 

Safeguarding 

arrangements dealing with 

Adults at Risk  

An audit of internal arrangements was 
conducted and now Gwynedd and Anglesey 
councils are looking into joint safeguarding 
cases.   This arrangement has meant that we 
have wider resources and expertise than we 
would have if we worked separately.    

A Safeguarding Hub has also been 
established in the Adults, Health and Well-
being Department since autumn 2017, and a 
Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) 
Coordinator has been appointed.    

A focus activity was conducted in 2019 by 
Care Inspectorate Wales and following their 
recommendations the Adults Department is 
operating a work programme. 

Continue with 
the new 
arrangements   

As part of the review, track 
some cases in order to 
identify any lessons  

This exercise was conducted and the new 
arrangements in place have improved 
performance in terms of the documenting 
decisions.  

Continue with 
the new 
arrangements   

 

3.6 4.Training 

 

Purpose: Ensure a workforce with up-to-date safeguarding knowledge   

What needed to be done? Progress made  The future 

Create a comprehensive 

Safeguarding course for 

the workforce, to include 

all safeguarding matters 

Following the publication of the new Child 
Protection Guidelines the Council has 
provided on-line training since July 2020.   
 

Continue to 
promote e-
learning 
courses as one 

Page 26



6 
 

and the flexibility to be 

tailored as required  

A number of e-learning courses have been 
developed on-line during 2018-2020 in the 
areas of Protecting and Safeguarding 
Children, Safeguarding Adults, Domestic 
Abuse, Prevent and Modern Slavery.    
 
A message was sent by Councillor Dilwyn 
Morgan, Chair of the Strategic 
Safeguarding Panel to staff (via a range of 
Communication channels, including social 
media) asking all staff to complete 
safeguarding training, specifically on the 
above elements.   
 
5,540 of these sessions had been 
completed by 9 December 2020.  One tool 
amongst several is the on-line training 
module; however, this should not be 
depended upon as the only method of 
learning, nor the only measure of 
understanding safeguarding issues.   
 
Between January and March 2020, Council 
staff were requested to measure their 
awareness of their responsibilities in the 
safeguarding field. From the responses 
received, 96.6% were aware of their 
responsibilities to draw attention to any 
suspicion that someone was being abused; 
however, the figure reduced to 70% for 
those who believed they knew what to do 
if they thought someone was being abused 
and at risk, where an urgent or non-urgent 
response was required.  

The results of the questionnaire proved 
that further work was needed to ensure 
that every Council staff member knows 
what to do, and therefore a new work 
programme has been developed by the 
Operational Panel, that will be continuously 
modified, to clearly communicate the main 
safeguarding messages.     

 

method of 
raising 
awareness and 
learning about 
safeguarding 
issues.  

 

Providing Ask and Act 

training  

As a result of the Violence against Women, 
Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence 
(Wales) Act 2015, the Welsh Government 

Training 
programmes 

Page 27



7 
 

issued a national training framework that 
includes six elements of training.    
All public service professions belong to 
one of these groups and every member of 
the Council's workforce is required to 
receive the relevant training.  
 
The Welsh Government expected Councils 
to have completed 50% of the training by 
the end of 2017; however, this target was 
not achieved for various reasons, including 
the availability of train the trainers 
programmes and Welsh medium materials. 
 
By now, 4 trainers have received training 
during the period 2018-2020 (in Adults, 
Education and Corporate Support 
Departments). 
 
In addition, a new Ask and Act virtual 
training programme was developed by 
staff from the Organisational Learning and 
Development Deaprtment and the 
Education Department, which had to await 
approval from Welsh Government.  
A successful 'pilot' course was conducted 
in November 2020 by staff from the 
Education Department and the 
Organisational Learning and Development 
Department, where staff from the 
Education Department received training. A 
12 month programme is now in place for 
the Education Department. The workforce 
development team is developing a 
programme for Care staff.   
 

will be 
conducted to 
reach the 
Welsh 
Government's 
aim, and to 
ensure that 
more members 
of staff 
complete 
these.   

Ensure that all the 

Council's workforce 

complete a Domestic 

Abuse e-module. 

In 2019, all Gwynedd Council staff 
members were asked to complete a 
Domestic Abuse e-module.  
Despite this, the response has been very 
disappointing thus far, with only 1,852 
members of staff having completed the e-
module by the end of 2019.   
This figure has increased to 2,491 by the 
end of 2020, therefore a small increase 
has been made; however, it is necessary to 
continue to increase the number of staff 

Analyse and 
understand 
why the figures 
are so 
disappointing 
(e.g. via a 
questionnaire) 
and try to find a 
solution that 
leads to an 
increase in the 

Page 28



8 
 

who complete the module, and to 
promote its importance.    
 
 

numbers who 
complete the e-
module.     

 

4. WORKING IN PARTNERSHIP 

4.1  The period between December 2018 and December 2020 saw the strengthening of 

work arrangements in partnership with other local Gwynedd agencies and regionally 

across north Wales.    

4.2  Although the Strategic Safeguarding Panel focuses on corporate responsibilities 

regarding safeguarding issues within Gwynedd, it also receives information and 

guidance via Regional Safeguarding Boards for Safeguarding Vulnerable Children and 

Adults working across north Wales. These are Statutory Boards with cross-agency 

membership and specific statutory and legal responsibilities. The Council is a member 

of these Boards and contributes to implementing their plans. Further information 

regarding the work of the Boards can be seen here - 

https://www.northwalessafeguardingboard.wales/ and there are links to the annual 

reports of the Boards in Section 9.   

 

4.3  During the period of this report the Council has also strengthened its working 

partnership with Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board in several fields; however, 

the safeguarding field has benefited as the Council and the Health Board now monitor 

the quality of nursing care in joint care homes. Once more, this is successful good 

practice that will continue in the future. 

4.4  There was also good collaboration in the Children's field, especially during the 

pandemic. Covid-19 brought new challenges to the service and the relevant 

Partnerships; however, it was possible to continue to collaborate and discuss the 

challenges that they faced in order to fully implement their responsibilities.  

5. GWYNEDD AND ANGLESEY COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP 

5.1  Gwynedd and Anglesey Community Safety Partnership have also demonstrated that 

working in partnership across county boundaries has proven successful. The Partnership 

Manager serves on the Safeguarding Strategic Panel, and the Partnership’s work in 

areas such as Prevent is essential if the Panel is to ensure the quality of safeguarding 

arrangements in Gwynedd.   

5.2  Several organisations have a statutory duty to be part of the partnership, including Local 

Authorities, Police, Probation Services, Fire and Rescue Service and the Health Board.   

Information on all aspects of community safety the Council deal with is on our website. 

Page 29

https://www.northwalessafeguardingboard.wales/
https://www.northwalessafeguardingboard.wales/
https://www.northwalessafeguardingboard.wales/
https://www.northwalessafeguardingboard.wales/
https://www.northwalessafeguardingboard.wales/
https://www.northwalessafeguardingboard.wales/
https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/cy/Trigolion/Diogelwchcymunedol.aspx
https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/cy/Trigolion/Diogelwchcymunedol.aspx
https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/cy/Trigolion/Diogelwchcymunedol.aspx


9 
 

5.3  Information about the Gwynedd and Anglesey Community Safety Partnership as well as 

the 2020 Community Safety Local Plan can be seen here. Elements of this work plan 

have been delayed this year as a result of Covid-19 as it was not possible to hold face-

to-face campaigns in our communities; however, the work as a whole has not relaxed.    

5.4  The Partnership is required to report formally to the Care Scrutiny Committee annually, 

in order to give an overview of the Partnership's main strategic developments over the 

year, together with the commissioning work that sets the framework for the priorities 

which are based on a strategic assessment. No concerns were raised in the Scrutiny 

Committee in 2019 or 2020. 

6.       WIDER SAFEGUARDING ISSUES 

6.1 Safeguarding Children 

6.2  At the start of 2019, the First Minister for Wales, Mark Drakeford, announced that one 

Welsh Government’s priorities would be to reduce the number of looked after children, 

and local authorities were required to set a numerical target to reduce the numbers in 

order to measure success against this target.   

6.3  Gwynedd Council determined that it would not set any numerical or percentage target 

in relation to the number of looked after children, as the local authority has a duty to 

ensure that every child is safeguarded from harm.   

6.4  As the purpose of the Children's Services is to ensure that things improve via a suitable 

and appropriate practice, and not by complying and reaching a target, they focused on 

improving practice, understanding Service requirements, continuous improvement and 

eradicating barriers to deliver the best for children. 

6.5  The Covid-19 pandemic saw new trends in child referrals that led to a concern by the 

service about the cases that they did not reach. There were several reasons for this 

including children not attending schools, and front-line health services being 

redeployed to specific roles in response to the crisis. This meant that there was 

substantially less direct contact with families than usual.  

6.6  There was a significant reduction in the number of referrals to the service at the start 

of the pandemic.  Over time there was an increase, with referrals returning back to what 

would be expected by September, but by the end of the year, the numbers had reduced 

once more and this means that it is necessary to understand and analyse the reason for 

this to ensure that the Children's Department puts everything necessary in place to 

ensure that agencies and the public are aware that the service is available to respond 

to any matter as usual.  

6.7  The ability of the service to respond to referrals or to conduct timely safeguarding 

investigations did not deteriorate. The service ensured that regular, direct contact 

Page 30

https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/cy/Trigolion/Dogfennau-trigolion/CYNLLUN-Diogelwch-Cymunedol-2019.pdf
https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/cy/Trigolion/Dogfennau-trigolion/CYNLLUN-Diogelwch-Cymunedol-2019.pdf
https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/cy/Trigolion/Dogfennau-trigolion/CYNLLUN-Diogelwch-Cymunedol-2019.pdf
https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/cy/Trigolion/Dogfennau-trigolion/CYNLLUN-Diogelwch-Cymunedol-2019.pdf


10 
 

occurred with children who were at risk and children on the Child Protection Register in 

accordance with Covid-19 guidance. There was no waiting list in place for a service and 

the workforce was available continuously throughout the period and it was possible to 

ensure that new cases of concern of significant harm that needed to be presented to 

the courts could be heard in a timely manner in virtual courts.  

6.8 Safeguarding Adults 

6.9  Since 1 September 2020, new Safeguarding Guidelines have been in operation. These 

new guidelines place more emphasis on the individual's voice within the safeguarding 

process, and differentiate between concern for wellbeing and concern about the safety 

of individuals. Consequently, there was a change in the Corporate Safeguarding Policy 

to ensure that it was in line with the new Guidelines. Every Department is expected to 

adapt their own safeguarding policies to comply with the Policy and Guidelines. 

6.10 In terms of referrals to the Adults, Health and Well-being Department during the Covid-

19 pandemic, they were low at the start of lockdown, however, they increased and were 

substantially higher than the monthly average of 50 referrals in July (73 referrals) and 

August (80 referrals). It appeared that there was no specific pattern in relation to the 

reason for the referrals.  

6.11  By the end of 2020, the significant increase in referrals had continued.  The increase has 

been noted as a risk, therefore the Department will keep an eye on the level of referrals.   

6.12 Home Education Regulations and Guidance  

6.13  As a Council we share the concerns of the Children’s Commissioner for Wales and ADSS 

Wales regarding the delay in 2020 by Welsh Government bringing in new legislation via 

the Senedd to regulate the home education field. The increase in the number of children 

taken out of the school system to be educated at home this year has highlighted the 

need to have clear guidelines for both local authorities and families on how to ensure 

the welfare and safety of any child. We are talking here about children who are 

permanently home educated, rather than children who undertake distance learning 

from the home during the Covid-19 period.   

6.14  In accepting that Covid-19 has an impact on the work of most organisations, we are also 

concerned that there is no clear commitment by the Minister for Education regarding 

if, and when the legislation journey will recommence. It was expected that statutory 

guidelines would replace the non-statutory ones in September 2021, however, there 

has been a delay until September 2022 as a result of the pandemic. The Children's 

Commissioner has expressed disagreement regarding this delay.  

Page 31



11 
 

6.15  In the meantime, officers from the Education and the Children and Supporting Families 

Departments continue to follow the present learning and safeguarding guidelines in 

order to retain contact with children and families who opt for home education.   

6.16  By the second half of 2020, it was noted that there had been an increase reported in 

the number of families that request to permanently educate their children at home. It 

was likely that the reason for this increase is that some of the children, or household 

members, are in the shielding category, and the concern is that the child would bring 

the virus home. Consequently, the Council has been strengthening the process 

regarding Home Education in order to implement a plan to transfer back to school.  

6.17 Domestic Abuse 

6.18  There was national concern that domestic abuse was increasing nationally as a result of 

Covid-19; however, in May 2020 it was noted that the number of cases in Gwynedd was 

low.   

6.19  By the end of 2020, the number of domestic abuse cases reported was exactly the same 

as 2019. Bearing in mind that so many more people are home during the lockdown 

period, this is a matter of concern as it begs the question whether sufferers are too 

afraid to report about their situation and that they live in situations of risk.  However, it 

was confirmed that there was good collaboration between the Council and relevant 

organisations and that efforts had been made to raise awareness of reporting domestic 

abuse.     

6.20  Crime 

6.21  As a result of the pandemic, the levels of nearly every category of crime had reduced in 

May 2020. On average, the crime levels in Gwynedd was 23% lower than the same time 

the previous year.  

6.22  In July and September, the rates started to gradually increase again. Crime categories 

such as stalking, harassment, anti-social behaviour and domestic abuse had risen again 

to the expected levels.  

6.23  However, the majority of the crime categories remained substantially lower than 

expected, and by the end of 2020 crime levels on the whole were 15.2% lower than at 

the same time in 2019.    

6.24 Modern Slavery Statement and Ethical Employment in Supply Chains  

6.25  This work now falls within the strategic regional structure and investigations by North 

Wales Police have identified local cases that justify the priority given to modern 

slavery by the North Wales Police Commissioner. These investigations confirm the 

Page 32



12 
 

need for public bodies to work together to meet the requirements of the Slavery Act 

but also to safeguard the welfare of vulnerable individuals.     

6.26  In January 2020, the Panel adopted operational measures for the coming year to 

ensure that the Council has specific arrangements in place, namely posting the 

guidelines and pathways to refer suspicions/cases on the Gwynedd Council website, 

establish a single point of contact, publish a specific annual statement regarding how 

the Council avoids Modern Slavery within business activities and the supply chains and 

training for staff.    

6.27  In July 2018, the Council Cabinet approved the Welsh Government Code of Practice for 

ethical employment in supply chains, which aims to ensure that every organisation in 

the public sector acts to eradicate unlawful and unethical employment practices.  

6.28  Following the commitment to the Code, in 2019 the Council published Gwynedd 

Council's Modern Slavery Statement 2020/21.   

6.29 The latest developments against the Code of Practice and the Slavery Statement can be 

seen in this document - Action Plan 2020-2021: Welsh Government Code of Practice. In 

addition to the description of the Council's internal employment arrangements, it 

demonstrates that the principles of ethical employment are also embedded in our 

procurement arrangements and our tendering processes.  

6.30  Counter Terrorism 

6.31  The Local Counter Terrorism Profile for Wales has been completed, this looked at risk 

matters in relation to counter terrorism. Through this Profile, Gwynedd was identified 

as a region with a low risk level; however, the aim is to continue to raise awareness in 

the field.  

6.32 Prevent  

6.33  In 2020, work proceeded to bring a Prevent Plan together. Gwynedd was a low risk area 

in relation to radicalisation and extremism; however, risk factors needed to be 

highlighted.   

6.34  The Home Office confirmed that individuals acting alone was the highest risk in 

Gwynedd in relation to mixed unspecific ideologies.   

7.       PRACTICE REVIEWS 

7.1  Wales has developed a Child Practice Review (CPR) framework to improve the culture 

of learning lessons from child protection cases. 'Brief' or 'extended' reviews exist 

depending on the circumstances of the child in question. They are undertaken by the 

North Wales Safeguarding Board with the aim of learning lessons to be shared in order 

to try and avoid such cases in the future.   

Page 33

https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/cy/Cyngor/Dogfennau-Cyngor/Strategaethau-a-pholisiau/Caethwasiaeth-Fodern/Datganiad-Caethwasiaeth-Fodern-Allanol.pdf
https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/cy/Cyngor/Dogfennau-Cyngor/Strategaethau-a-pholisiau/Caethwasiaeth-Fodern/Datganiad-Caethwasiaeth-Fodern-Allanol.pdf
https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/cy/Cyngor/Dogfennau-Cyngor/Strategaethau-a-pholisiau/Caethwasiaeth-Fodern/Cynllun-Gweithredu-Cod-Ymarfer.pdf
https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/cy/Cyngor/Dogfennau-Cyngor/Strategaethau-a-pholisiau/Caethwasiaeth-Fodern/Cynllun-Gweithredu-Cod-Ymarfer.pdf
https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/cy/Cyngor/Dogfennau-Cyngor/Strategaethau-a-pholisiau/Caethwasiaeth-Fodern/Cynllun-Gweithredu-Cod-Ymarfer.pdf
https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/cy/Cyngor/Dogfennau-Cyngor/Strategaethau-a-pholisiau/Caethwasiaeth-Fodern/Cynllun-Gweithredu-Cod-Ymarfer.pdf


13 
 

 

7.2  During the period (October 2019) the results of one extended case practice review 

(ECPR) has been published - ECPR Gwynedd 1 - 2015 

 

7.3  The North Wales Safeguarding Board also conduct Adults Practice Reviews, in 

accordance with the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014. The purpose of 

these Reviews is to note the lessons to be learnt from complex and difficult Adult 

Safeguarding cases, and to implement changes to improve services as a result of these 

lessons.   

 

8.        THE FUTURE 

7.1  As can be seen in the tables in Part 3, the Panel has further work to do to ensure that 

some matters are strengthened further - this includes access to appropriate and 

effective safeguarding training and using appropriate measures.  

7.2  The Panel will continue to monitor the safeguarding position of Gwynedd residents as a 

result of the pandemic by looking at the impact of this at the level and nature of the 

demand on the options of how to respond.  

7.3  Once the work pressure as a result of the pandemic reduces, it is proposed for the Panel 

to hold a reflective session to assess if there are any matters that require specific 

attention by the Panel. In addition, the Panel will continue to receive appropriate 

updates to have assurance that safeguarding matters receive appropriate attention 

within the corporation.  

 

9.     INDEPENDENT INSPECTIONS RECEIVED DURING THE PERIOD 

As has already been noted, external agencies review the work of Gwynedd Council in order 

to ensure compliance with standards. The reviews conducted during the period of this Report 

are listed below:   

Care Inspectorate Wales: 

Annual Performance Review Letter to the Local Authority in 2018/19: Gwynedd Council   

Annual Performance Review Letter to the Local Authority in 2019/20: Gwynedd Council   

 

10.    LINKS TO FURTHER READING  

Annual Report of the Director of Social Services 2019/20 

Page 34

https://www.bwrdddiogelugogleddcymru.cymru/wp-content/uploads/2019/10/Gwynedd-EAYP-1.pdf
https://www.bwrdddiogelugogleddcymru.cymru/wp-content/uploads/2019/10/Gwynedd-EAYP-1.pdf
https://arolygiaethgofal.cymru/sites/default/files/2019-06/190628-gwynedd-cy.pdf
https://arolygiaethgofal.cymru/sites/default/files/2020-07/200803-Gwynedd-cy.pdf
https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/en/Council/Documents---Council/Performance-and-spending/Director-for-Social-Services-Annual-Report-201920-website-HYG.pdf


14 
 

National Independent Safeguarding Board Wales – Annual Report 2019/20 

North Wales Safeguarding Board - Annual Report 2019/20 

North Wales Safeguarding Board - Annual Report 2018/19 

 

Page 35

http://safeguardingboard.wales/2020/11/30/annual-report-2019-20/?noredirect=en_GB
https://www.northwalessafeguardingboard.wales/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/FinalAnnual-Report-2019-20.pdf
https://www.northwalessafeguardingboard.wales/wp-content/uploads/2019/10/V10-FINAL-NWSB-Report-Eng.pdf


 

GWYNEDD COUNCIL CABINET 

 

Report to a meeting of Gwynedd Council Cabinet 
 
 

Date of meeting:  9 March 2021 

Cabinet Member:  Councillor Dafydd Meurig and Councillor Dilwyn 
Morgan 

Contact Officer: Morwena Edwards, Corporate Director 

Title of Item: Response to the Consultation on the White Paper: 
Rebalancing Care and Support 

 

 

1. THE DECISION SOUGHT 
 

1.1. The Cabinet is requested to approve the draft response to the Consultation, and 
to support the Council's decision to disagree with the proposals included in the 
White Paper. 

 
2. THE REASON FOR THE NEED FOR A DECISION 

 
2.1 Welsh Government has published a White Paper on its intention to rebalance 

care and support in Wales, and has asked for observations on proposals to 
introduce new legislation to improve social care arrangements and strengthen 
partnership working to achieve the vision set out in the Social Services and Well-
being (Wales) Act 2014 for people who need care and support, and carers who 
need assistance. 
 

2.2 The response will be considered when developing any new legislation in this 
field. 
 

 
3. INTRODUCTION 

 
3.1 Welsh Government's vision is to rebalance the field of care and support in order 

to provide high quality social care that supports people to achieve their 
outcomes. The White Paper briefly defines 'rebalancing' as a series of 
descriptions of the change we want to see within the system. 
 

3.2 The vision of the White Paper corresponds fully to the vision we are already 
striving to realise here in Gwynedd, and so the vision is to be welcomed, in 
principle. 
 

3.3 These are the key proposals included in the Paper: 

Page 36

Agenda Item 8



 
  

• To move away from a focus on money within the care market, and towards 
quality and value 

• To commission services with the focus on outcomes 
• To develop integration by reducing obstacles to joint planning and provision 
• To co-produce outcomes with people 
• To gain better control of the care market 
• To move away from an organisational focus towards more effective partnership 

working  
 

3.4 However, the proposals within the White Paper are very different to the proposals 
that we would support as a means of achieving this vision. 

 
These are the key matters the White Paper proposes to change: 

 
• To create a National Framework for commissioning children and adults' care, 

which would set out the methodology for fees, standard commissioning 
processes, and increase performance transparency 

• To further improve regional planning, with joint commissioning across health 
and care 

• To strengthen regional organisations in order to allow more integration and 
action between social services and its partners, to allow focus on preventative 
services 

• An improved basis for adopting long-term policies, including improved salaries 
and terms and conditions for the workforce 

• To reduce environmental impact by cutting direct emissions through more 
effective procurement 

• To establish a National Office for Social Care that would gain an overview of 
the stability of the care market, and that would be able to drive national policies 

 

3.5 In terms of the change to strengthen the "regional organisation", the proposal is 
outlined to ensure that the Regional Partnership Board has more tools at its 
disposal to ensure that this can be better achieved.  

 
This is the change that is on the table: 
 

• Establishment of Partnership Boards as legal corporate entities.  
• The Boards’ ability to directly employ staff 
• The ability to hold their own budgets 
• The Boards’ ability to implement joint commissioning with health and care 

themselves 
• To ensure clear governance arrangements for matters of joint accountability 

for decisions made by local authorities and health boards in terms of pooled 
funds and joint commissioning 

• To establish and hold integrated budgets for the provision of regional integrated 
services 

• To establish a planning and performance monitoring cycle and framework, 
based around the five-year cycle of data and population assessment 

Page 37



 
• The Regional Boards would be jointly audited by Care Inspectorate Wales and 

Healthcare Inspectorate Wales in terms of their effectiveness in working 
together and in partnership, pooled funds and joint commissioning. 

• The Regional Boards and the Public Services Boards to continue to have 
'complimentary' functions, but this does not rule out extending the function to 
CJCs for social care. 

 
4. THE RATIONALE AND JUSTIFICATION FOR RECOMMENDING THE DECISION 

 

4.1  We have concerns regarding several aspects and directions taken within this 
White Paper, and are not prepared to support the proposals. At first glance, as 
the vision is very similar to the vision that we are already striving to achieve her in 
Gwynedd, the Government's proposal seems to be taking us in the right direction. 

 

4.2  However, having considered the content in more detail, the proposals are clearly 
moving us further away from our vision here in Gwynedd to integrate more locally 
and to focus on what matters to individuals.  

 

4.3 There is also a lack of detail within the White Paper with regard to what some of 
these proposals actually mean, which makes it very difficult for us to form an 
opinion on whether the change will be a positive one for the people of Gwynedd 
or not.  

4.4 As well as forming a response to the questions that have been set as part of the 
consultation, we propose that we also form a draft response to the Deputy 
Minister for Health and Social Services, which includes the following points: 

 

4.4.1 First and foremost, Welsh Government is to be congratulated for the 
outlining of a strong vision within the White Paper. The vision itself should 
be welcomed and praised, as it is in keeping with the principles of the 
Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014, and enriches the quality 
of care and support. We completely agree that there is a need to focus on 
outcomes for the individuals as well as the quality of our support and 
provisions rather than money; and we also welcome the vision of keeping 
arrangements simple so that we can deliver effectively for our residents. 

4.4.2 However, we do not agree with how it is proposed the vision should be 
implemented.  

4.4.3 We truly believe that the actions proposed in the White Paper take us 
further from the vision outlined. Major assumptions are made with regard 
to our current arrangements; these are, unfortunately, often incorrect. 
Neither do we believe that increasing the current level of regional work 
and, as a result, moving the arrangements further from the local level, will 
solve or simplify anything. The truth is that this will add a layer of 
bureaucracy and complexity, and as a result, its impact on individuals 
locally can only be negative.  

Page 38



 
4.4.4 By establishing another regional body as a separate legal body, as noted 

in the White Paper, this would lead to a further erosion in local 
democracy. A body of this sort would need its own specific governance 
arrangements and framework which will add to the running costs and 
bureaucracy. It is also fair to note that this will be in addition to 
establishing CJCs that already appear cumbersome, suggesting that a 
range of ad-hoc regional arrangements will exist.  

4.4.5 In addition, there is insufficient cross reference made to the contents of A 
Healthier Wales, if at all. The document discusses improving the health 
and care system as well as working as one, doing so by local integration, 
as well as striving to focus on the matters behind individuals' health and 
well-being. And yet, the White Paper seems to ignore this and sees 
regionalisation as the solution to simplifying work and the sustainability of 
the care sector.   

4.4.6 As a Council, we have been undertaking integrated work on a local level for 
some years now, with Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board and the 
Third Sector. A good example of this integrated working are our community 
resource teams, which are referred to locally at times as out 'Alltwen project' 
or the 'Ffordd Gwynedd project'.  

In this work, we have information and feedback that provide strong 
evidence that integration at a local level works in terms of how people's 
outcomes are improved. Our experience shows clearly that it is at this level 
that integration works best.  

At this level, it is possible to simplify work processes and avoid obstacles, 
leading eventually to an improved service for the individual. 

4.4.7 Also, the fact that services referred to in the White Paper are seen as 
support for purchase only is these days a traditional view of the sector.  

For many years now, we have strived to include our care provisions in 
Gwynedd as part of the array of support individuals need, attempting to 
include providers in the support at a very local level. By trying to create a 
regional system and pooling resources at a regional level, this excellent 
work will be lost.   

On top of the fact that this would be a considerable step backwards, these 
regional systems are be very likely to be expensive to run and administer, 
and we would far prefer, as a Council, for those funds to be spent on our 
residents rather than cumbersome regional systems. 

4.4.8 Although reference is made to the children field within the White Paper, we 
believe that the proposals are based on an understanding of the adults' field 
only and, once again, there is a lack of understanding that it is at a local 
level that the solutions and integrated working will succeed. 

4.4.9 We do not agree that yet more regional work in the health and care field is 
likely to lead to the outcomes listed within the vision.  

Page 39



 
Our experience locally shows clearly that a focus on local work is what is 
needed, and the fact that the Health Board in the north has split into smaller 
sections in order to operate more effectively is very strong evidence of this. 

4.4.10 The White Paper mentions the need for fair salaries for care providers and 
we fully agree with this, but there is a major shortfall in terms of noting in 
the paper how exactly this would be achieved.  

Certainly, pooling budgets at a regional level would not achieve this, and a 
better understanding is needed of how the Government would ensure that 
Local Authorities are appropriately funded for this to happen. Much more 
detail is required, as well as an explanation on how these salaries would be 
funded. 

4.4.11 We see no references to the Welsh language in the White Paper, which 
undermines the robust efforts of Welsh Government's More than Just 
Words strategic framework to offer services in Welsh to patients in care 
settings as an integral part of the care provided to them. This is a concern 
for us as a Council, especially when we consider the Welsh demographic 
of our county. Regional working could undermine much of the work that 
happens locally in terms of responding to the local language needs. 

4.4.12 We have major concerns regarding several aspects within this White 
Paper, and are not prepared to support the proposals. At first glance, it is 
easy to read the vision and take for granted that the Government is 
moving in the right direction, but in actual fact, the detailed contents move 
us further from our vision here in Gwynedd to integrate on a more local 
level, and to be focussing on what matters to individuals. 

 
4.5 We therefore ask Welsh Government to give careful consideration to our 

observations, and to reconsider the proposals within the White Paper. 
 

5. NEXT STEPS AND TIMETABLE 
 

5.1  Gwynedd Council is asked to submit a response to the consultation by 6 April 
2021. 

 
 

6. Views of the Statutory Officers: 
 

 
i) The Monitoring Officer: 

 
As noted in the report the White Paper offers solutions which, on the one 
hand are welcome but with elements which give rise to some fundamental 
questions as to their intent an direction. 

 
ii) Head of Finance:  

 

Page 40



 
I agree with the authors of this ‘response’ report that there is danger within 
the White Paper’s proposals for regional joint commissioning across health 
and care.  There would be diseconomies of scale and risk of duplication of 
management costs with an oversized "regional organization" moving 
arrangements further away from the local level. 
   
Furthermore, with regional "pooled budgets" (words which appear several 
times in the White Paper), there is a risk of a lack of accountability for very 
significant expenditure, and a likelihood of failure in financial management 
due to 'cost shunting'. It would be much easier to keep financial control with 
integrated working at a local level, so I'm convinced that enforcing regional 
pooled budgets would be counterproductive. 

 
 

 
  
 
  

 

Page 41



Questions of the Consultation on the White Paper: Rebalancing Care and Support 
 
 

Question 1: Do you agree that complexity in the social care sector inhibits service 
improvement?  
 

 
Complexity in any service would likely inhibit service improvement, but we believe that 
adding an additional layer at a regional level, and in doing so go further away from the 
individual, would certainly add complexity rather than reduce it. 
 
It is not always easy to avoid complexity in the social care sector, because of policies, 
procedures and processes. Nevertheless, we do have room to simplify some aspects 
of the sector's work in order to improve services for our patients, for example, by 
working in an integrated manner and at a more local level. 
 
The White Paper argues that the sector's current procedure is complex, but we 
believe that the changes proposed would add layers of unnecessary complexity, by 
moving the decisions that matter to our individuals further away by introducing them at 
a regional and national level.  
 
Consequently, we would also move away from doing what matters to the individual 
and placing them at the centre of everything we do. A Healthier Wales stresses the 
need to do this, and the White Paper undoes this work by regionalising the work.   
 
 
 

Question 2: Do you agree that commissioning practices are disproportionately 
focussed on procurement?  

 
For some years now in Gwynedd, we have identified the need to work much more 
closely with our care providers, whether external or in-house, in terms of planning 
services and support for individuals. Therefore, we are already trying to move away 
from traditional procurement arrangements for the care sector. 
The proposals made would likely inhibit the pioneering and exciting changes that we 
have underway. 
 
 

Question 3: Do you agree that the ability of RPBs to deliver on their responsibilities is 
limited by their design and structure? 
 

 
The different regions within Wales need to be given consideration, while addressing 
the fact that the north Wales region is comprised of a number of different areas which 
have different needs.  
 
Welsh Government has set out the design and structure of the Regional Partnership 
Boards, and the needs of the north Wales region are not always considered within 
this, which means that making decisions and holding discussions at a regional level 
can be difficult at times, given the size of the region.  
 

Page 42



With the right design and structure, Regional Partnership Boards can be a strength for 
networking and to deliver on some very specific matters, but more local partnership 
arrangements would likely give better results to the people of Gwynedd than regional 
arrangements. 
 

Question 4: Do you agree a national framework that includes fee methodologies and 
standardised commissioning practices will reduce complexity and enable a greater 
focus on service quality? 
 

 
We welcome the need to have a greater focus on service quality. However, the White 
Paper does not set out a clear intention which highlights the way the care sector would 
be funded in the future. It is suggested that budgets should be accrued regionally, but 
it is difficult to see how this would improve services at a local level and it is, indeed, 
more likely to create complexities which would deteriorate quality. 
 
A national framework would probably benefit us on matters where national intervention 
is needed - e.g. if it included better terms and conditions in terms of fees for staff 
working in the care sector, as well as a commitment to fair funding so that local 
authorities are able to do this. 
 
However, it is not possible for us to anticipate whether such a national framework 
would benefit us at a local level until we know what is included in it, and how it will be 
implemented. We need far more detail before being able to answer this question 
properly. 
 

Question 4a: - What parts of the commissioning cycle should be reflected in the 
national framework? 
 

 
Again, without further detail, it is difficult to give a comprehensive response, but 
generally speaking, it is important that the needs of our local population, within specific 
areas of the county, are identified and that this feeds into commissioning at a local 
level, where possible. If there are issues due to numbers or specialist requirements, 
requiring a regional or national level response, it would then be possible to hold the 
discussions at that level. 
 
 

Question 5: Do you agree that all commissioned services provided or arranged 
through a care and support plan, or support plan for carers, should be based on the 
national framework?  

 
It would be useful to have more clarity in terms of what the Government views as the 
problem at present, and then have an explanation of how they see a national 
framework solving this problem. There is a lack of information and detail within the 
White Paper to enable us to respond sensibly. 
 
 
There has been good work at a local and national level in terms of commissioning and 
providing arrangements here in north Wales. Care and support is very personal to 
every individual, and we are focusing our efforts on working to provide what matters to 
individuals to enable them to live their lives as they want to live them. 

Page 43



 
We are uncertain how much a national framework would add to the arrangements we 
already have in place; we do not wish to duplicate work or create more work for 
ourselves.  
 

Question 5a- Proposals include NHS provision of funded nursing care, but do not 
include continuing health care; do you agree with this?  

 
We do not agree that continuing health care should be excluded from any 
consideration. For the individual, many concerns and obstacles are caused if the 
continuing health care arrangements are kept separate to the care arrangements.  
There is an opportunity here for the White Paper to address these obstacles in terms 
of the patients’ experience. 
 

Question 5b- Are there other services which should be included in the national 
framework? 

 
It is difficult if not impossible to answer this question without further detail. 
 

Question 6: Do you agree that the activities of some existing national groups should 
be consolidated through a national office? 

 
It is very difficult to answer this question without further detail and more evidence in 
terms of why a National Office is needed. 
 
Many national groups already exist, but it is unclear what benefits would stem from 
combining them by creating a national office. Again, we must ask if this would 
duplicate or create more work. 
 

Question 6a- If so, which ones?  
 

 
Please see the above response. 
 

Question 7: Do you agree that establishing RPBs as corporate legal entities capable 
of directly employing staff and holding budgets would strengthen their ability to fulfil 
their responsibilities? 
 

On the basis of the current responsibilities of the Regional Partnership Boards, the 
boards do not need to be corporate legal entities. 
 

Question 7a- - Are there other functions that should be considered to further 
strengthen regional integration through RPBs? 
 

There is no need to strengthen regional integration as this is already happening, and 
working successfully, at a local level. 
 

Question 8: Do you agree that real-time population, outcome measures and market 
information should be used more frequently to analyse needs and service provision? 

 
Possessing this information at a local level is important in order to help us to better 
create services, with adaptations as required.  

Page 44



 

Question 8a- Within the 5 year cycle, how can this best be achieved? 
 

Ensuring that this planning happens at a very local level and as part of natural 
community planning - within community clusters - would be beneficial. It must be 
ensured that preventative work within communities and community resilience are key 
parts of planning within the health and care sector. This was seen clearly with the way 
we responded to the Covid crisis - actually working at an even more local level. The 
regional work was suspended and leaders naturally looked at their local networks in 
order to respond. This needs to be reflected in the White Paper. 
 

Question 9: Do you consider that further change is needed to address the challenges 
highlighted in the case for change? 

 
Yes. There is a need to think of different ways of resolving the challenges that face us 
in the sector. A Healthier Wales addresses these challenges in an effective and 
meaningful way, therefore, we believe that the principles contained within it should be 
followed, rather than following the direction of the White Paper. 
 
The White Paper is in danger of undoing much of the good work which has been 
happening locally in the sector to provide care of a good quality according to the 
needs of the individuals. 
 

Question 9a- What should these be?  
 

As a Council, we are very willing to discuss further with you in order to show the 
evidence we have in terms of integration and working locally, bringing our care 
provisions in even more to the solutions at a local level. 
 

Question 10: What do you consider are the costs, and cost savings, of the proposals 
to introduce a national office and establish RPBs as corporate entities?  

 
There would be a high cost of establishing these things, at the expense of funding we 
could spend elsewhere in the interests of the patients e.g. on provisions, resources or 
staff. It is unclear what benefits would stem from establishing these national and 
regional bodies, but using the money to improve direct provisions for individuals and 
the salaries of care staff would certainly make more of a difference. 
 

Question 10a- Are there any particular or additional costs associated with the 
proposals you wish to raise? 
 

 
Please see the above response. 
 

Question 11: We would like to know your views on the effects that a national 
framework for commissioning social care with regionally organised services, delivered 
locally would have on the Welsh language, specifically on opportunities for people to 
use Welsh and on treating the Welsh language no less favorably than English.  
What effects do you think there would be? How could positive effects be increased, or 
negative effects be mitigated? 

Page 45



The White Paper makes no reference to the Welsh language or the impact on the 
language, which raises major concerns that no consideration has been given to the 
impact these changes would have on the language. 
 
The More Than Just Words framework means that patients must receive a service in 
the language of their choice, without having to ask for it. We would hope that no 
change is made to this expectation, and that the framework would be further 
strengthened with the emergence of any changes. 
 

Question 12: Please also explain how you believe the proposed policy to develop a 
national framework for commissioning social care with regionally organised services, 
delivered locally could be formulated or changed so as to have positive effects or 
increased positive effects on opportunities for people to use the Welsh language and 
on treating the Welsh language no less favourably than the English language, and no 
adverse effects on opportunities for people to use the Welsh language and on treating 
the Welsh language no less favourably than the English language. 
 

 
Again, this is likely to be very difficult to deliver, given the north Wales regional 
demography. It is an extensive area with a variety of linguistic needs; therefore, it 
would be difficult to have a policy which would suit all areas. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 46



 
 

Number: WG41756 
 

Rebalancing care and support 

 

A consultation on improving social care arrangements and strengthening 
partnership working to better support people’s well-being. 

 

Date of issue: 12 January 2021  
Action required: Responses by 06 April 2021 

Mae’r ddogfen yma hefyd ar gael yn Gymraeg.  
This document is also available in Welsh. 
 
 

  © Crown Copyright 

 
Welsh Government  

White Paper 

 

Page 47



 

 

Overview This consultation document seeks views on proposals 
to introduce new legislation to improve social care 
arrangements and strengthen partnership working to 
achieve the vision set out in the Social Services and 
Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 for people who need 
care and support and carers who need support. 
Proposals include setting out a clear national 
framework to support services to be planned 
regionally and delivered locally, and for the 
strengthening of partnership arrangements.   
 
Your responses will be considered in developing any 
new legislation.   
 

How to respond Responses to this consultation should be e-mailed or 
posted using the online response form to the respond 
address below. All consultation responses must arrive 
by 6 April 2021 at the latest. 

Further information 
and related 
documents 
 
 

Large print, Braille and alternative language 
versions of this document are available on 
request. 
 
The consultation documents can be accessed from 
the Welsh Government’s website at 
https://gov.wales/consultations  
 

Contact details For further information: 
 
Futures and Integration Division  
Social Services and Integration Directorate 
Health and Social Services Group  
Welsh Government  
Cathays Park  
Cardiff   
CF10 3NQ 
  
email: socialcarefutures@gov.wales  
 

Also available in 
Welsh at: 

https://llyw.cymru/ymgyngoriadau   

Page 48

https://gov.wales/consultations
https://llyw.cymru/ymgyngoriadau


 

3 
 

General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) 
 
The Welsh Government will be data controller for any personal data you provide as part 
of your response to the consultation. Welsh Ministers have statutory powers they will 
rely on to process this personal data which will enable them to make informed decisions 
about how they exercise their public functions. Any response you send us will be seen 
in full by Welsh Government staff dealing with the issues which this consultation is 
about or planning future consultations. Where the Welsh Government undertakes 
further analysis of consultation responses then this work may be commissioned to be 
carried out by an accredited third party (e.g. a research organisation or a consultancy 
company). Any such work will only be undertaken under contract. Welsh Government’s 
standard terms and conditions for such contracts set out strict requirements for the 
processing and safekeeping of personal data. 
 
In order to show that the consultation was carried out properly, the Welsh Government 
intends to publish a summary of the responses to this document. We may also publish 
responses in full. Normally, the name and address (or part of the address) of the person 
or organisation who sent the response are published with the response. If you do not 
want your name or address published, please tell us this in writing when you send your 
response. We will then redact them before publishing. 
 
You should also be aware of our responsibilities under Freedom of Information 
legislation. If your details are published as part of the consultation response then these 
published reports will be retained indefinitely. Any of your data held otherwise by Welsh 
Government will be kept for no more than three years. 
 
Your rights 
Under the data protection legislation, you have the right: 

 to be informed of the personal data held about you and to access it 

 to require us to rectify inaccuracies in that data 

 to (in certain circumstances) object to or restrict processing 

 for (in certain circumstances) your data to be ‘erased’ 

 to (in certain circumstances) data portability 

 to lodge a complaint with the Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO) who is our 
independent regulator for data protection. 

 
For further details about the information the Welsh Government holds and its use, or if 
you want to exercise your rights under the GDPR, please see contact details below: 
Data Protection Officer: 
Welsh Government 
Cathays Park 
CARDIFF 
CF10 3NQ 
e-mail: Data.ProtectionOfficer@gov.wales 
 
The contact details for the Information Commissioner’s Office are:  
Wycliffe House 
Water Lane 
Wilmslow 
Cheshire, SK9 5AF 

Page 49

mailto:Data.ProtectionOfficer@gov.wales


 

4 
 

Contents 
 
Ministerial Foreword ........................................................................................................ 5 

Executive Summary ......................................................................................................... 7 

Introduction .................................................................................................................... 10 

Overview .................................................................................................................... 10 

The vision for social care ........................................................................................... 10 

Progress in achieving the vision ................................................................................. 13 

The case for change ...................................................................................................... 14 

Population change and need ..................................................................................... 14 

The funding challenge ................................................................................................ 15 

The care and support market ..................................................................................... 16 

Commissioning and complexity .................................................................................. 17 

Workforce sustainability ............................................................................................. 19 

Children ...................................................................................................................... 21 

Public services working together ................................................................................ 23 

Prevention .................................................................................................................. 25 

Lessons from other parts of the UK ........................................................................... 25 

Achieving the vision ....................................................................................................... 27 

Design ........................................................................................................................ 27 

Refocussing the fundamentals of the care market ..................................................... 27 

Reorientation of commissioning practices .................................................................. 29 

Evolution of integration mechanisms ......................................................................... 30 

Putting it into practice .................................................................................................... 32 

How can we do it? ...................................................................................................... 32 

Rebalancing the national framework .......................................................................... 33 

Strengthening regional organisation .......................................................................... 34 

Impact on local authority and local health board commissioning of care and support 35 

Annex 1: Summary of the impacts ................................................................................. 37 

Annex 2: Summary of the consultation questions .......................................................... 39 

 
 

     
 

  

Page 50



 

5 
 

Ministerial Foreword  
 
Throughout the Covid-19 pandemic the social care sector has dealt with unprecedented 
levels of challenge, supporting many of the most vulnerable people in our society. Local 
innovation has developed at pace and services have worked together. I want to take 
this opportunity to thank personally each and every member of the social care workforce 
for their ongoing contribution to our local communities. 
 
The Welsh Government remains committed to our vision of securing well-being for 
people who need care and support and carers who need support. Significant progress 
has been made in the nearly ten years since our first White Paper on social care, 
Sustainable Social Services: A Framework for Action 2011, which marked the beginning 
of our transformational journey. The Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014(1) 
was co-produced with the sector and people who need care and support and carers 
who need support, and it has reshaped the nature of the sector. It shares with the Well-
being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015(2) a focus on well-being, an ethos of 
prevention and early intervention and the imperative of co-production and cross-sector 
working.  A Healthier Wales – our Plan for Health and Social Care also broke new 
ground in setting out in a national plan a single system approach to health and social 
care. 
 
This White Paper therefore builds on strong foundations.  However, the pandemic has 
put the social care system under great strain and made the fragility of the sector more 
visible. Years of UK-wide austerity has made its mark on public finances, and a further 
challenging period lies ahead of us. That is why we must increase the pace of our 
transformational work to make social services sustainable.  
 
To be fit for the future we are proposing legislative changes that we believe are 
essential to secure our vision. We intend to develop a national framework for 
commissioning social care that will rebalance care and support. It will reduce complexity 
and ensure that quality is the key determinant of success in the social care market.  We 
know that continuity of the social care workforce has a significant impact on the 
achievement of people’s outcomes, and therefore there will be a strong link between the 
national framework and action to support the workforce.   
 
We remain committed to Regional Partnership Boards and want to support them to build 
on their successes to strengthen integration across Wales. We will enhance Regional 
Partnership Boards by providing them with a sharper set of tools to deploy, to better 
plan and deliver care and support where collective action is essential in order to 
improve people’s well-being.  
 
In setting out these proposals I want to assure locally elected representatives that I am 
strongly committed to local democratic accountability, and therefore to decisions about 
local services being made as close as possible to local people.  In making that clear 
statement, it is not contradictory to point to the complexity in the social care 
commissioning landscape, nor to the benefits of regionally integrated planning and 
delivery.   
 

                                                        
1 The Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 (2014 anaw 4)  
2 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (2015 anaw 2)  

Page 51

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2014/4/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2


 

6 
 

We recognise that there are significant pressures on the sector due to the pandemic, 
but it is important to look to the future and how we may build back better. These 
proposals are not about short term structural changes, they are about long term 
solutions to enhance our system and ensure sustainable social services in Wales that 
support people to achieve well-being. We believe our proposals will provide a better 
basis for future improvement to the social care sector, including by supporting the 
workforce. 
 
I welcome your views on our proposals, and look forward to working together with you 
to deliver our ambitions for better social care in Wales.   
 
 

 
 
 
Julie Morgan, MS 
Deputy Minister for Health and Social Services 
 
  

Page 52



 

7 
 

Executive Summary 
 
Introduction 

At the time of publication of this White Paper, social care services are grappling with 
enormous challenges on a daily basis because of Covid-19. The pandemic has made 
more apparent the sector’s fragility.  How then as a social care sector we can build back 
better is both an opportunity and a necessity. 

Landmark legislation in the form of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 
and the Regulation and Inspection of Social Care (Wales) Act 2016(3) has unanimous 
support across the sector.  A Healthier Wales4 remains central to our vision of an 
integrated health and social care system.  All our work as a government is shaped by 
the Well-being of Future Generations Act 2015. 

However, the description in the social services well-being statement, of the outcomes 
people should experience with support from care and support services, is still not 
uniformly the experience of people who need care and support, and carers who need 
support.  A range of environmental and system factors offer explanations for this. 

Analysis 

There is growing need for care and support in all population groups.  This relates to the 
biggest underlying challenge which is the sector’s funding positon.  Years of austerity 
have made their mark on public finances, and the impact of Covid-19 is creating a 
further challenging period.  The Welsh Government’s Inter Ministerial Group on Paying 
for Social Care is examining options for the future resourcing to be made available to 
the adult social care sector as part of the package of funding available for a future social 
care promise. Future financial implications will need to be met from within the future 
settlements set by forthcoming budget rounds, and all governments will face difficult 
decisions in the face of very tight budget outlooks. 
 
Complexity is the overriding feature of the care and support landscape.  Social care in 
Wales is provided through a market place of over 1,000 providers, mostly from the 
independent sector, who often compete for the same contracts.  People’s care and 
support is commissioned through local authorities, local health boards or directly by 
themselves. It is funded through national and local government and through fees and 
charges people may pay to their local authority or directly to a care provider.  
 
In this context of a fragmented system, partners working together is vital. There is 
evidence of good practice here, but equally there are concerns about the progress of 
integration. There is little space for social value organisations, and limited data sharing 
as a basis for system-wide learning. This is the system we have, rather than the system 
that would be designed by choice.   
 
 
 
 

                                                        
3 The Regulation and Inspection of Social Care (Wales) Act 2016 (2016 anaw 2)  
4 A healthier Wales: long term plan for health and social care  

Page 53

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2016/2/introduction/enacted
https://gov.wales/healthier-wales-long-term-plan-health-and-social-care


 

8 
 

Design 

From the case for change, three critical areas emerge where focused action is needed 
to deliver improvement: 

 refocusing the fundamentals of the care market – away from price towards 
quality and value; 

 reorientation of commissioning practices – towards managing the market and 
focusing on outcomes; and 

 evolution of integration mechanisms – simplifying joint planning and delivery. 

Through action in these three areas, this White Paper seeks to rebalance the care and 
support market based on a clear national framework where services are organised 
regionally and delivered locally.  In doing so we aim to rebalance social care so that 
there is neither an over reliance on the private sector, nor a monopoly in the other 
direction.  This White paper defines ‘rebalancing’ broadly as a set of descriptions of the 
system change we want to see. 

Rebalancing means… 

…Away from complexity.  Towards simplification. 

Away from price. Towards quality and social value. 

Away from reactive commissioning. Towards managing the market.  

Away from task-based practice. Towards an outcome-based practice. 

Away from an organisational focus.  Towards more effective partnership… 

… to co-produce better outcomes with people. 

 

In shaping these proposals we have drawn on guiding frameworks which emphasise a 
long term perspective, the importance of collaboration and seeking opportunities to 
reduce complexity. 

Overview of proposals 

A national framework for commissioning care and support for children and adults will be 
developed to rebalance the market with the aim of improving quality. The national 
framework will set fee methodologies, develop more standardised commissioning 
processes, and increase transparency of service performance. Fee methodologies must 
be flexible enough to reflect factors including size and location and the resourcing of 
providers at different stages of their own business cycle. The framework can be a 
platform for implementing future recommendations of the Social Care Forum in relation 
to improved terms and conditions across the sector in Wales. 
 
A ‘national office’ for social care should be established to develop and deliver the 
national framework. This may be either through developing a function within 
government, or setting up a small arms-length body of the Welsh Government.  In both 
options, governance arrangements will ensure full engagement with local authorities, 
health boards, the independent sector and other key partners. 

Page 54



 

9 
 

The national office will maintain an overview of the stability of the market for care and 
support, and be a basis for driving national policy initiatives. It will consolidate activity of 
some national fora, including the National Commissioning Board, working with Social 
Care Wales, the workforce regulator with responsibility for supporting service 
improvement in Wales. Separately, national direction will be strengthened through 
establishing a professional voice for the social care and social work workforce at a 
national level within Welsh Government.   
 
Local authority commissioning functions will continue to be accountable locally.  Based 
on the proposals in this paper, in future local authorities and local health boards will 
exercise these functions in accordance with the national framework, ensuring the full 
and fair use of its methodologies.  
 
Regional Partnership Boards (RPBs) will be provided with a sharper set of tools to 
deploy to deliver their core aims of jointly assessing and planning for population needs.  
This responds to external reviews, and to the feedback from RPB members about how 
the current configuration of these partnership arrangements can sometimes limit their 
ability to act collectively and decisively. Specifically, we propose that RPBs should be 
established as corporate legal entities. Re-shaped RPBs, with functions to employ staff 
and hold budgets, would be expected to undertake significant joint commissioning and 
more directive market shaping.   
 
Current planning and reporting arrangements will be consolidated, and these 
arrangements will be a better basis to evidence accountability to local and regional 
partners, as well as Welsh Ministers in respect of any national resources allocated to 
RPBs.  

Conclusion 
 
The proposals outlined in this White Paper will strengthen the arrangements of the 
social care sector and improve quality of care.  They are based on an analysis of the 
weaknesses in the market for care and support, and limitations in current partnership 
structures.   
 
The proposals will reduce complexity, increase sustainability, and strengthen 
integration. They will increase transparency rather than obscure local accountability. 
The changes proposed can rebalance the provision of care and support profoundly.   
 
The focus is on the way the system is arranged, but the clear purpose is achieving our 
vision for social care through improving outcomes for people who need care and 
support and carers who need support.  

Page 55



 

10 
 

Introduction 
 

Overview 
 
Social care helps people who need care and support, such as older people, children 
who have physical or social needs, disabled people, and their families and carers. Care 
and support might include support to communicate, protection from abuse or neglect, 
help to maintain or develop family or other significant personal relationships or help with 
everyday living (e.g. getting in and out of bed, cooking and laundry).     
 
People in need of care and support and carers who need support must be enabled to 
use their strengths to achieve what matters to them, and they must have real voice and 
control over their lives, so that they can make a full contribution to the community and 
draw on it for support. Prevention is at the heart of this approach, this requires a whole 
system approach with an emphasis on improvement, well-being, co-production, 
prevention and early intervention, and on using new and emerging technology 
effectively. 
 
The organisation, arrangement and delivery of social care is complex.  That was the 
case before the emergence of Covid-19, but the pandemic has reconfirmed fragility 
within parts of the sector, for example across domiciliary and residential care.  It has 
also shown how we can collectively address unnecessary complexity in order to 
increase the focus on quality and person-centred care. This White Paper proposes that 
current arrangements for social care need to be strengthened and re-aligned to respond 
to the range of challenges facing the sector, and to achieve the vision for social care set 
out in the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014, supporting people to 
achieve their well-being outcomes.  These challenges form the basic rationale for the 
proposals in this White Paper, which will provide a better basis for the future of social 
care. 
 

The vision for social care 
 
It is almost ten years since the Welsh Government’s White Paper ‘Sustainable Social 
Services for Wales: A Framework for Action’ set the Welsh Government’s commitment 
to reform social care in Wales and marked the beginning of a transformational journey. 
The Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 (‘the Act’) and the Regulation and 
Inspection of Social Care (Wales) Act 2016 were co-produced with the sector and 
people in Wales.  
 
This landmark legislation embodies the Welsh Government’s vision and core principles 
for social care, building on people’s strengths to support them to achieve well-being and 
this continues to be right for social care in Wales. For older people this means living 
longer, healthier and happier lives, being able to remain active and independent, in their 
own homes, for as long as possible. For adults this means being able to exercise 
control over their lives and participate in work and other activities that are important to 
them. For children and families this means being supported to stay together, where this 
is in the best interests of the child. 
  
Section 5 of the Act includes a definition of well-being. “Well-being”, in relation to a 
person, means well-being in relation to any of the following—  

Page 56



 

11 
 

a) physical and mental health and emotional well-being;  
b) protection from abuse and neglect;  
c) education, training and recreation;  
d) domestic, family and personal relationships;  
e) contribution made to society;  
f) securing rights and entitlements;  
g) social and economic well-being; and 
h) suitability of living accommodation.  

 

In relation to a child, “well-being” also includes—  

a) physical, intellectual, emotional, social and behavioural development; and 
b) “welfare” as that word is interpreted for the purposes of the Children Act 1989. 

 

In relation to an adult, “well-being” also includes—  

a) control over day to day life; and 
b) participation in work. 

 
This definition was further developed through the social services well-being statement 
for people who need care and support and carers who need support5. The statement 
sets out what well-being means for people. This is about giving people a stronger voice 
and greater control over decisions that affect them and ensuring people get the care 
and support they need to lead fulfilled lives. 
 
The core principles of the vision are set out as overarching duties in section 6 of the Act. 
These are: 

 to ascertain and have regard to the individual’s views, wishes and feelings, in so 
far as is reasonably practicable; 

 to have regard to the importance of promoting and respecting the dignity of the 
individual; 

 to have regard to the importance of providing appropriate support to enable the 
individual to participate in decisions that affect them to the extent that is 
appropriate in the circumstances, particularly where the individual’s ability to 
communicate is limited for any reason; and 

 to have regard to the characteristics, culture and beliefs of the individual 
(including, for example, language). 
 

Specifically in relation to adults, these are: 

 to have regard to the importance of beginning with the presumption that the adult 
is best placed to judge their well-being; and 

 to have regard to the importance of promoting the adult’s independence, where 
possible. 

 
Specifically in relation to children, these are 

 to have regard to the importance of promoting the upbringing of the child by the 
child’s family, in so far as doing so is consistent with promoting the well-being of 
the child; and 

                                                        
5 Well-being statement for people who need care and support and carers who need support  
 

Page 57

https://socialcare.wales/cms_assets/hub-downloads/Handout_National_Well-being_Statement.pdf#:~:text=The%20well-being%20statement%20is%20a%20part%20of%20the,Act%20in%20April%202016.%20For%20more%20information%20contact


 

12 
 

 to ascertain and have regard to the views, wishes and feelings of the persons 
with parental responsibility for the child where a child is under 16, in so far as 
doing so is a) consistent with promoting the well-being of the child and b) 
reasonably practicable. 

 
The Welsh Government has a longstanding commitment to rights and has put the 
United Nations Principles for Older Persons and the United Nations Convention on the 
Rights of the Child in Section 7 of the Act. The Welsh Government has also included a 
duty to have regard to the United Nation Convention on the Rights of Persons with 
Disabilities in the Code of Practice for Part 2 of the Act. 
 
The Older People’s Commissioner for Wales6 has noted that growing older and living in 
an ageing society is something most of us will experience. Improving this experience 
therefore benefits us all, and we must continue to ensure that the human rights of older 
people are protected, both now and in the future. People’s rights must be at the heart of 
action and decisions about what happens in our care homes, in the wider social care 
system and in our communities7. The Welsh Government is committed to create a 
Wales where everyone looks forward to growing older. The Strategy for an Ageing 
Society8 sets out to create an age friendly Wales that upholds older people’s rights and 
promotes intergenerational solidarity.   
 
In 2011 Wales became the first country in the UK to incorporate children’s rights into 
domestic law with the introduction of the Rights of Children and Young persons (Wales) 
Measure 2011. The Measure embeds consideration of the United Nations Convention 
on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC) and the optional protocols into Welsh law. The main 
duty within the Measure, under section 1, requires Ministers to have due regard to the 
UNCRC when exercising any of their functions. The Welsh Government believes that all 
children – without discrimination in any form – must have their human rights protected. 
Any persons carrying out functions under the Act in relation to children with needs for 
care and support, child carers with needs for support and persons in respect of whom 
functions are exercised under Part 6 (looked after and accommodated children), must 
have due regard to the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child. 
 
In addition the Act, for the first time, gives carers equivalent rights to the people that 
they care for by extending their right to an assessment for support. The duty to assess 
applies regardless of the authority’s view of the level of support the carer needs or the 
financial resources he or she has or the financial resources of the person needing care. 
The assessment must include an assessment of the extent to which the carer is able 
and willing to provide the care and to continue to provide the care, the outcomes the 
carer wishes to achieve both in terms of themselves and the extent to which support, 
preventative services, or the provision of information, advice or assistance could assist 
in achieving the identified outcomes. The Welsh Government is currently consulting on 
a national plan for carers9. 
 

                                                        
6 Older People's Commissioner for Wales Strategy 2019-22- Making Wales the best place in the world to 
grow older  
7 Joint Statement by the Older People’s Commissioner for Wales and Equality and Human Rights 
Commission in Wales  
8 Welsh Government consultation on the strategy for an ageing society: age friendly Wales   
9 Welsh Government consultation on a national plan for carers   

Page 58

https://www.olderpeoplewales.com/en/publications/strategy.aspx
https://www.olderpeoplewales.com/en/publications/strategy.aspx
https://www.olderpeoplewales.com/en/news/news/20-07-21/Joint_Statement_by_the_Older_People_s_Commissioner_for_Wales_and_Equality_and_Human_Rights_Commission_in_Wales.aspx
https://www.olderpeoplewales.com/en/news/news/20-07-21/Joint_Statement_by_the_Older_People_s_Commissioner_for_Wales_and_Equality_and_Human_Rights_Commission_in_Wales.aspx
Welsh%20Government%20consultation%20on%20the%20strategy%20for%20an%20ageing%20society:%20age%20friendly%20Wales%20
https://gov.wales/carers-national-plan-wales


 

13 
 

Progress in achieving the vision 
 
The quality of people’s experience of care and support is impacted by the behaviour of 
those providing services, such as warmth, kindness, empathy, respect, genuineness 
and love10. In September 2020, 75 per cent of people who responded to the National 
Survey for Wales11 agreed that the care and support they received had improved their 
quality of life.  
 
Alongside this broadly positive account, we know progress in achieving the vision of the 
Act can be inconsistent.  For example the Care Crisis Review12 reported that some 
children, young people and families say they are not getting the early offers of help they 
want to stop problems escalating.  A recent study of citizens’ views13 showed many 
respondents felt like they need to fight for services, and that there was an expectation 
that they will accept and fit in with whatever support they are given.  Carers were more 
likely to report a far higher incidence of ‘negative’ or ‘very negative’ experiences than 
those who receive care and support.  
 
This legislation is still relatively new, and its implementation, including the shift to a new 
way of working to support people to achieve well-being, continues to be a journey. The 
Welsh Government’s evaluation of the Act findings suggest that the ethos and principles 
of the Act are supported and have led to real change in social care, even despite 
austerity, but it is still very much regarded as an ongoing process. Given the variations 
in people’s experiences, the challenges facing the sector described in the Case for 
Change section of this paper, and reflecting from the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic, 
the present moment is an important time to take stock and plan for the future. 

 

 
  

                                                        
10 The King's Fund blog- Quality in social care: we need an ear for stories as well as an eye for data 
11 National Survey for Wales: results viewer  
12 Care Crisis Review- A sector-led Review of the rise in applications for care orders and the number of 
children in care  
13 Measuring the Mountain- our findings  

Page 59

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/blog/2019/12/quality-social-care-needs-stories
https://gov.wales/national-survey-wales-results-viewer
https://www.frg.org.uk/involving-families/reforming-law-and-practice/care-crisis-review
https://www.frg.org.uk/involving-families/reforming-law-and-practice/care-crisis-review
mtm.wales/our-findings


 

14 
 

The case for change 
 
The Welsh Government has commissioned a partnership between academics across 
four universities in Wales and expert advisers to deliver the evaluation of the Act. 
Evidence from this evaluation suggests that the legislation has promoted change, and 
progressed local authorities’ relationships with key partners in health, the voluntary 
sector and the independent sector. Four years after the Act came into force, there is 
considerable evidence of the difference made.  However, a key theme running 
throughout the evaluation was the reference to the difference still to be made and the 
implementation of the legislation being seen as a continuous journey of change14.   
 
The following section builds on the preceding analysis by setting out important 
challenges facing care and support in Wales in the time ahead.  This ‘case for change’ 
provides a basis for the proposals in the final sections of this White Paper.   
 

Population change and need 
 
The proportion of people over the age of 75 in Wales is projected to increase by more 
than 53 per cent by 2040. Likewise, those over 65 will rise to one in four of the 
population before 2050. Although future demand for formal care cannot simply be linked 
to an ageing population, the projected growth in the numbers of older people with 
complex care needs (including severe dementia) is highly likely to result in increased 
pressure on formal care services – for example, the number of older adults living with 
severe dementia is predicted to double to 53,700 by 204015.  
 
There has tended to be a perception in the sector of a reluctance to engage with social 
care amongst some Black Asian and Minority Ethnic communities as some families 
have preferred to support older family members themselves. However, more families 
are reported to say they cannot offer the support needed and therefore it is expected 
that significantly more Black Asian and Minority Ethic older people will need to access 
social care services in the future. Current national data on adults receiving care and 
support provided to Welsh Government is not broken down by ethnicity.  The Welsh 
Government is collaborating with key stakeholders in the social care sector on the 
development of a more comprehensive routine census of adults receiving care and 
support. The Welsh Government is also developing a Race Equality Action Plan to 
stimulate culture change in Welsh Government, in public services in Wales, in business 
and in Welsh society, to address structural and systemic racism.  The Race Equality 
Action Plan will aim to transform the experiences and life chances of Black, Asian and 
Minority Ethnic people in Wales.  Enabling access to appropriate and culturally sensitive 
social care provision has emerged as a priority for Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic 
people in the early co-construction of the Plan. Social Care Wales and Health Education 
and Improvement Wales have developed a workforce strategy16 for health and social 
care which includes developing targeted recruitment schemes for under-represented 
groups. 
 

                                                        
14 Evaluation of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014  
15 The future of care in Wales: Resourcing social care for older adults report by Wales Fiscal Analysis 
2020 
16  Social Care Wales and Health Education and Improvement Wales' 10 year workforce strategy for 
health and social care  

Page 60

https://gov.wales/evaluation-social-services-and-well-being-wales-act-2014
The%20future%20of%20care%20in%20Wales:%20Resourcing%20social%20care%20for%20older%20adults%20report%20by%20Wales%20Fiscal%20Analysis%20
The%20future%20of%20care%20in%20Wales:%20Resourcing%20social%20care%20for%20older%20adults%20report%20by%20Wales%20Fiscal%20Analysis%20
https://heiw.nhs.wales/programmes/health-social-care-workforce-strategy/
https://heiw.nhs.wales/programmes/health-social-care-workforce-strategy/


 

15 
 

 
Numbers of people with long term, life limiting and chronic conditions are increasing, 
largely due to the ageing population. There will be a 57% increase in people age over 
75 with life limiting long term illness by 203517. Older age is the leading cause of 
deafblindness, this is likely to increase as the over 85 population continues to grow. In 
the UK, 29,000 adults with a learning disability live with parents aged 70 or over, many 
of whom are too old or frail to continue in their caring role. 
 
Local authority expenditure increased far more over the last 10 years for children’s 
services than adult’s services, even though the population of children in Wales 
remained relatively constant. The number of looked after children has risen significantly. 
Since 2003 the number of looked after children in Wales has risen by 63 per cent. In 
addition, more expensive care and support interventions are also needed to meet the 
increasingly complex needs of families, including those where children and young 
people who are disabled or who have severe chronic illnesses are living longer.  
 
Tackling the continuing rise in numbers of looked after children in Wales has been a key 
priority throughout the course of this Government. To help stem the rise in looked after 
children numbers, the First Minister asked for a targeted approach to be developed with 
local authorities. Local authorities have developed reduction expectation plans over a 3 
year period (2019-2021).  However since the introduction of these plans, further 
increases have been seen with a 6.9 per cent increase in numbers of looked after 
children across Wales. At 31 March 2019 looked after children from Black, Asian and 
Minority Ethnic group population were over represented, making up 8.6 per cent of 
looked after children18, compared with 6.6 per cent of all children from the Black, Asian 
and Minority Ethnic population group in Wales. 
 
Carers should be enabled to lead a life alongside their caring, and through supporting 
carers the demands on public services can be reduced. The most recent official 
statistics on the numbers of carers in Wales are reported through the 2011 Census19. 
There were 370,230 unpaid carers (both children and adults) in 2011 providing at least 
one hour of unpaid care. Of those, 157,794 were providing at least 20 hours of unpaid 
care. Carers UK has noted an increase in unpaid carers due to the coronavirus 
pandemic. Unpaid carers providing high levels of care are twice as likely to be 
permanently sick or disabled themselves. Unpaid care is by far the largest source of 
adult care provision20.  
 

The funding challenge 
 
The Welsh Government recognises the biggest challenge facing the social care sector 
is the funding position in the context of increasing and more complex demand on 
services. Social services continues to make up an increased percentage of overall local 
government expenditure. Commissioning costs and wage inflation account for a 

                                                        
17 National population needs assessment report for care and support in Wales 
18 Looked after children census, at 31 March 2019. 
19Office for National Statistics- official labour market statistics 
20 The future of care in Wales: Resourcing social care for older adults report by Wales Fiscal Analysis  

Page 61

https://socialcare.wales/cms_assets/file-uploads/SCW-NPAR-ENG.PDF
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2019-10/children-looked-after-local-authorities-april-2018-march-2019-964.pdf
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/construct/components/stdListComponent.asp?menuopt=12&subcomp=100
The%20future%20of%20care%20in%20Wales:%20Resourcing%20social%20care%20for%20older%20adults%20report%20by%20Wales%20Fiscal%20Analysis%20


 

16 
 

significant proportion of increased demands on local authority social services 
departments across Wales21.  
 
There is uncertainty over future budgets. The Welsh Government received a one year 
budget settlement for 2021-22. The Welsh Government has increased local government 
budgets by £172 million in 2021-2022 on a like-for-like basis compared to the current 
year. Setting aside additional spending because of the Covid-19 pandemic, this budget 
plan represented an above inflation increase of more than £400 million in health and 
social care, bringing the total investment in the health and social care system in 2021-
22 to more than £8.7billion. This includes an increased special grant of £50 million to 
local authorities to address pressures on social care and more than £130 million 
provided through the Integrated Care Fund. But even with this additional funding the 
projected future funding need looks challenging. Any future financial implications will 
need to be met from within the future settlements set by future budget rounds.   
 
The Health Foundation estimates that pressures on social care will rise by around 4.1 
per cent a year in real terms between 2015 and 2030-31, due to demography, chronic 
health conditions and rising costs. This will require the budget to almost double by 
2030-31 to match demand. This rate of growth is higher than that expected for the NHS, 
as social care is heavily concentrated on the frail elderly, often with co-morbidity, and a 
much smaller but growing (and ageing) population of people with learning disabilities.   
 
Analysis undertaken for the Welsh Government shows potential funding requirements 
for social services in Wales in the short to medium term. LE Wales presented five 
potential scenarios, projecting net expenditure requirements up to 2022-23. While it is 
difficult to predict expenditure patterns, since publication, 2018-19 data shows an 
annual increase of 5.7 per cent on 2017-18 net current expenditure, which is closest to 
the high cost scenario estimate. These scenarios were predicted before Covid-19, with 
an increase in demand from the pandemic, it is likely that the expected projections will 
be an underestimate.   
 
The Inter-Ministerial Group on Paying for Care (‘the IMG’) has been considering the 
possibility of raising additional funding for adult social care in the context of Professor 
Holtham's22 proposals for a hypothecated levy to create a social care fund. For 
contributing in this way he envisaged people receiving a “social care promise” or clear 
benefit of some kind. The IMG’s work has been delayed by the pandemic, but is 
progressing. The IMG has considered a range of options for the potential use of any 
additional funds raised. This included all personal care and accommodation free, along 
the lines of the NHS. However, an initial cost of this is an estimated additional £700 
million a year, well beyond the Welsh Government’s ability to provide. As a result, the 
IMG has focused on developing funded options that are potentially sustainable and 
deliver better quality care.  
 

The care and support market 
 
The care estate is large and varied, consisting mostly of smaller private providers with 
narrow margins and limited financial reserves. On 22 December 2019, there were 1076 

                                                        
21 At the tipping point? Welsh local government and austerity report by Wales Centre for Public Policy 
2019 
22 Paying for social care- An independent report commissioned by the Welsh Government 2018  

Page 62

https://www.wcpp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/190418-Austerity-Report-FINAL-1.pdf


 

17 
 

care home services for adults, 229 care home services for children and 570 domiciliary 
support services, registered with Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW). Of the 570 domiciliary 
support services, 23 were provided by local authorities or local health boards. The 
majority (75per cent) of care homes for older people in Wales are owned by a single 
owner who own one care home or an owner who has less than five care homes. A 
much smaller percentage of homes are owned by larger group providers (8per cent)23. 
 
More adults are receiving care and support at home wherever possible, in line with what 
matters to them. This has created a level of demand that outweighs the volume of 
domiciliary care provision available. Often the greatest proportion of delayed transfers of 
care from hospitals has been attributable to people waiting to return to their homes with 
packages of domiciliary care services in place.  
 
Implementation of the Regulation and Inspection of Social Care (Wales) Act 2016 has 
changed the framework under which the care market is regulated and inspected. New 
regulations have been made covering each of the regulated services listed in that Act. 
The regulations were made in three phases – an explanation of the regulations (and 
relevant links) may be found on the Social Care Wales information and learning hub24. 
 
The purpose of these regulations and CIW is to ensure safety of care and support, to 
drive up improvement so that people can achieve well-being and the outcomes that are 
important to them. It is an offence for a service provider to fail to comply with a specified 
provisions of these regulations, and CIW is able to take action against providers and 
responsible individuals when necessary. The regulations focus on six key areas: 
information, person-centred care, safeguarding, environment (including premises), 
staffing and governance.  
 

Commissioning and complexity 
 
The Let’s Agree to Agree Toolkit25 used the term commissioner to describe the staff 
from the local authority or the health board who have responsibility for ensuring that the 
right range and type of care is available for people in their area. Social care 
commissioners analyse need, plan and design appropriate service provision, secure 
that provision (often but not exclusively through procurement activity) and monitor the 
quality and delivery of the provision on an ongoing basis. There are 29 main 
commissioners of care in Wales through 22 local authorities and 7 local health boards.  
 
The Let’s Agree to Agree Toolkit describes procurement as the process of ensuring that 
a fair price is paid from the public purse for those people whom the state arranges or 
provides care for. Commissioners in Wales mainly procure services and undertake 
contract management arrangements. Due to the complexity of the market, and reduced 
capacity because of austerity, it is challenging for commissioners to develop all parts of 
the commissioning cycle, for example, designing, capacity building, managing 
relationships and analysing.   This can be seen in excessive residential care beds and 
service gaps across Wales, for example limited availability of care and support through 
the Welsh Language, particularly in the provision of nursing care.  

                                                        
23 Rapid Review for Care Homes in Relation to Covid-19 in Wales by Professor John Bolton 2020 
24  Social Care Wales learning hub  
25 Lets agree to agree- A toolkit for commissioners and providers to agree the cost of residential and 
nursing care for older people in Wales, August 2018 

Page 63

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-10/rapid-review-for-care-homes-in-relation-to-covid-19-in-wales.pdf
https://socialcare.wales/hub/regulation-and-inspection
https://ipc.brookes.ac.uk/publications/Cost%20of%20Residential%20Care%20Toolkit%20August%202018.pdf
https://ipc.brookes.ac.uk/publications/Cost%20of%20Residential%20Care%20Toolkit%20August%202018.pdf


 

18 
 

 
There has been limited progress on creating a more diverse provider base and 
rebalancing the market by supporting alternative models of care. The Parliamentary  
Review of Health and Social Care in Wales 201826 noted that the commissioning role 
needs to be strengthened and used to incentivise local reshaping of seamless health 
and care services with greater focus on health and well-being responsibilities. Although 
innovative multi-agency approaches are being developed the scale and pace needs to 
increase to meet changing population needs.    
 
To support the sector in their commissioning role, the National Commissioning Board 
was set up. It is made up of key representatives of the sector and plays a central role in 
building vison and setting a national direction for the commissioning of health, social 
care and well-being services in Wales. The Board: 

 Provides a national perspective on the care and support market; 

 Influences national policy; 

 Drives implementation of good practice in regions; and 

 Supports Regional Partnership Boards (RPBs) to fulfil their duties in relation to 
effective regional commissioning and pooling of funds. 

 
Whilst the Board does not direct or determine the work programmes of individual local 
authorities, local health boards or RPBs, its purpose is to provide an authoritative voice 
and actively seek to promote a coherent approach to commissioning practice and the 
collation of good practice across Wales. 
 
Despite the focus in the Act on collaborative approaches to commissioning through 
shared population needs assessments and area plans (and, when implemented, market 
stability reports), few areas have achieved a truly partnership approach across all 
aspects of the commissioning cycle. Even with the consensus built through the National 
Commissioning Board, the Let’s Agree to Agree Toolkit27 has not secured the buy-in to 
be adopted across Wales. 
  
The current structure of the social care market for adults can be referred to as a 
monopsony – where there are a small number of purchasers and a large number of 
providers. Local authorities are the main buyer of the social care market; in the context 
of austerity, this market structure and pressurised budgets has caused a driving down of 
fees and costs. Care providers are often competing within the same local area by 
minimising costs to win contracts. With the main costs for providers being labour, pay 
and terms and conditions are seen as a cost to be minimised to ensure providers can 
win contracts. This has led to downward pressure on pay and on terms and conditions. 
 
Fragmentation also makes it much more difficult for the sector to play its part in 
consistently adopting effective environmental practices.  Whilst individual providers may 
have ambitious aims and plans to significantly reduce their carbon emissions, a 
galvanised whole-sector approach is more difficult to identify.   
 

                                                        
26 The Parliamentary Review of Health and Social Care in Wales 2019 
27Lets agree to agree- A toolkit for commissioners and providers to agree the cost of residential and 
nursing care for older people in Wales, August 2018  

Page 64

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2018-01/Review-health-social-care-report-final.pdf
https://ipc.brookes.ac.uk/publications/Cost%20of%20Residential%20Care%20Toolkit%20August%202018.pdf
https://ipc.brookes.ac.uk/publications/Cost%20of%20Residential%20Care%20Toolkit%20August%202018.pdf


 

19 
 

The evaluation of the implementation of the Act28 suggest that although there were 
some positives there were also shortcomings in commissioning practices. The findings 
suggest that there is a sense that practice had evolved such that commissioning for the 
principles and outcomes of the Act had been realised, but there was considerable 
progress still to be made. Through discussions with the sector, the main issue identified 
with commissioning during the implementation of the Act was the lack of co-ordination 
between local authorities leading to 22 distinct and different ways of doing things.  
 
In contrast progress has been made by the Children’s Commissioning Consortium 
Cymru (4Cs) which was created in 2012 and consists of all 22 local authorities who 
have joined together to address concerns about the variable standards evident in 
placement commissioning for looked after children. The Consortium work collaboratively 
with partners to match vulnerable children who need to be looked after with the best 
possible placement.  
 
The vision is to deliver improved outcomes, as well as better value for money, through 
excellent standards of care with trusted, quality assured providers, maximising the 
benefit of standardised contracts, terms and conditions, and purchaser economies of 
scale. As well as significant cost savings, benefits include improved management 
information, consistent and secure collaborative tools and processes across authorities 
to facilitate individual placement matching, contract award and contract monitoring, 
collaborative risk management, and quality assurance of providers; sustained reduction 
in prices; and an environment of partnership with the independent sector to commission 
new sustainable care models.  It also rationalised processes for all participant 
authorities ensuring a consistent placement process fit for purpose by focusing on the 
needs of the child. 
 
The Consortium has established social care frameworks for looked-after children’s 
foster and residential placements and only those who offer the best quality placements 
and value for money can become Framework providers. These Frameworks provide a 
strategic procurement solution for independent sector looked after children placement 
needs. For the life of the contract provider quality, cost per placement, terms conditions 
and specifications are determined and agreed. This has eliminated the need for a full 
procurement process for each and every placement and removed options of 
‘opportunistic’ pricing which previously existed for some urgent requirements. It also 
rationalised processes for all participant authority ensuring a consistent placement 
process fit for purpose by focusing on the needs of the child.  
 

Workforce sustainability 
 
The delivery of social care is rightly labour-intensive and the availability of a skilled 
workforce plays a key role in delivering high quality of care29. People who use social 
care have reported they value the continuity and familiarity of people who often provide 
very personal care, and that it is important to build up a rapport as it makes people feel 
more secure30. The development of positive relationships is essential for safe, effective 
and high quality care and it matters to everyone, children and adults.  

                                                        
28 The evaluation of the implementation of the Act  
29 The future of care in Wales: Resourcing social care for older adults by Wales Fiscal Analysis   
30 Home care in Wales: Views and experiences of older people. Welsh Institute for Health and Social 
Care report for the Older People’s Commissioner for Wales, 2012. 

Page 65

https://gov.wales/evaluation-social-services-and-well-being-wales-act-2014
https://www.cardiff.ac.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0019/2427400/social_care_final2_aug20.pdf


 

20 
 

 
The social care workforce is typically ageing and gendered, with the vast majority of 
staff of commissioned care providers are female and over a half of the workforce is 
aged over 4031. The Institute for Fiscal Studies in its analysis for England and Wales 
notes that particular ethnic minorities are more likely to be employed in critical worker 
roles. They indicate that, across England and Wales, Black African employees are 
much more likely than other ethnic groups to be employed as critical workers, and 
particularly in health and social care. Analysis produced by Welsh Government32 
indicates that half of Black, African, Caribbean and Black British employees work in 
critical occupations and that more than half of employees of Bangladeshi ethnicity are 
critical workers.  
 
The staff turnover rate for all of the adult social care workforce in Wales is reported by 
the ONS at 30 per cent in Wales33,34.  In addition to high turnover, current issues 
include high vacancy rates, costly recruitment and training of new staff, growing use of 
(more expensive) agency staff, and churn within the sector with staff frequently moving 
between employers often for financial incentives or improved working conditions. 
Recent research by the Welsh Institute for Health and Social Care35 noted there is 
competition from employers outside the social care sectors (e.g. retail). These 
employers are considered to provide similar or better pay, with roles carrying less 
responsibility. Competition within and between social care employers and the NHS was 
thought to contribute to retention problems in the social care workforce. 
 
The social care workforce in Wales makes up an important part of the Welsh 
foundational economy, representing 6 per cent of the total employment in Wales. The 
Economic Value of Adult Social Care Report 201836 notes that the combined annual 
Gross Value Added (GVA) plus the indirect impact supply chain multiplier and the wage 
multiplier for the sector (induced impact) is estimated to generate £2.2 billion in Wales. 
The report states that there are 72,100 jobs in the adult social care sector in 2000+ sites 
across Wales (in residential care, domiciliary care, day care and other settings which 
include central support services) which equated to 54,100 Full Time Equivalents (FTEs) 
in 2016. Most of the care sector is on national minimum wage. The average earnings for 
those in the adult social care sector in Wales were estimated to be £16,900 per FTE, 
compared with average earnings across all industries of those in Wales of £29,200 in 
2016.  
 
As part of the Fair Work Commission, the Fair Work Wales37 report noted that despite 
the sector being a core industry that contributes to individual and social well-being, it is 
a sector which displays various features associated with insecurity and poor working 
environment. In response to the recommendations of the report, the Welsh Government 
has recently convened a Social Care Forum which is considering how best to improve 
pay and other conditions of employment in the social care sector.  
 

                                                        
31 Report on the factors that affect recruitment and retention of domiciliary care workers 2016  
32 Coronavirus and employment: analysis of protected characteristics  
33Employee turnover levels and rates by industry section, UK, January 2017 to December 2018   
34 Factors that affect the recruitment and retention of domiciliary care workers and the extent to which 
these factors impact upon the quality of domiciliary care  
35 Research on the terms and conditions of social care employment contracts in Wales  
36 The Economic Value of the Adult Social Care sector Wales   
37 Fair Work Wales- Report of the Fair Work Commission, March 2019 

Page 66

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2019-07/160317-factors-affect-recruitment-retention-domiciliary-care-workers-final-en.pdf
https://gov.wales/coronavirus-and-employment-analysis-protected-characteristics
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/adhocs/10685employeeturnoverlevelsandratesbyindustrysectionukjanuary2017todecember2018
https://gweddill.gov.wales/docs/caecd/research/2016/160317-factors-affect-recruitment-retention-domiciliary-care-workers-final-en.pdf
https://gweddill.gov.wales/docs/caecd/research/2016/160317-factors-affect-recruitment-retention-domiciliary-care-workers-final-en.pdf
https://gov.wales/terms-and-conditions-social-care-employment-contracts-wales
https://socialcare.wales/cms_assets/file-uploads/The-Economic-Value-of-the-Adult-Social-Care-Sector_Wales.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-05/fair-work-wales.pdf


 

21 
 

Research indicates that pay, terms and conditions are regarded as key factors that 
relate to job satisfaction, and there is an important link between job satisfaction, service 
quality and the achievement of outcomes38. Improving pay, terms and conditions is 
considered to be an important part of attracting, recruiting and retaining workers in the 
sector particularly for domiciliary care where anecdotally we know that salaries are 
lower and working hours less reliable than in other parts of the sector39.  
 
Recent analysis by LE Wales of the adult social care workforce data and ratings of care 
establishments in England (inadequate, requires improvement, good and outstanding) 
from the Care Quality Commission England indicates a link between wages of care 
workers and quality of care.  The analysis suggests that a £1 increase in hourly wages 
for care workers reduces the proportion of establishments in need of improvement by 
about 4.5 percentage points, for both residential and domiciliary care. Although 
equivalent quality ratings for settings in Wales are not currently available, this 
relationship is assumed to hold in Wales.  
 
The Welsh Government has taken steps through the Regulation and Inspection of 
Social Care (Wales) Act 2016 to help improve the quality of the care and support 
provided by the domiciliary care workforce, by requiring an increase in the separation 
between travel and call time. These provide further opportunities to establish domiciliary 
care as an attractive, supported and rewarding long term career. Measures have also 
been taken to limit the use of zero hours contracts by requiring domiciliary care service 
providers to give workers a choice after three months of employment as to whether they 
are employed on zero hours or fixed hour contracts. 
 
However, the Measuring the Mountain evaluation project40 reported in 2019 that among 
those who have regular engagement with social care, either through a social worker or 
through carer workers coming into their home, the turnover of staff continued to be a 
cause of uncertainty and anxiety. Individuals often did not know which care workers 
they should expect or if they would have met them previously. The report noted two key 
factors that contribute to when people are most likely to feel out of control, namely 
working with multiple services or sectors and staff turnover. 
 

Children 
 
The Act reinforces the principle of supporting families in caring for children with an 
emphasis on helping parents develop their own ability to identify and manage problems, 
keeping families together in a safe, supportive and stable environment. Preventative 
services have a key role to play in meeting the needs of children by preventing 
circumstances that might lead to a child or young person being looked after by a local 
authority. 
 
The Care Crisis Review 201841 noted that research continues to raise questions about 
the level and effectiveness of support available for parents of children who receive care 
and support, and identifies that a significant proportion of spend by the state is on ‘late 

                                                        
38 Fair care, a workforce strategy for social care, March 2019 
39 Fair care, a workforce strategy for social care , March 2019 
40 Measuring the mountain-report on what really matters to in social care to individuals in Wales?  
41 Care Crisis Review- Factors contributing to national increases in numbers of looked after children and 
applications for care orders (June 2018) 

Page 67

https://www.ippr.org/files/2018-11/fair-care-a-workforce-strategy-november18.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-03/measuring-the-mountain-final-report.pdf
https://www.frg.org.uk/images/Care_Crisis/Care-Crisis-Review-Factors-report-FINAL.pdf
https://www.frg.org.uk/images/Care_Crisis/Care-Crisis-Review-Factors-report-FINAL.pdf


 

22 
 

intervention’ for children and families, with one of the largest single items the cost of 
children who are taken into care. Placing the focus for repairing families on statutory 
social services is often too late. The Welsh Government’s ‘reduction expectations’ work 
has, over the past two years, provided further evidence that although socio-economic 
factors explain variation in demand between local authorities, there is also considerable 
local variation in practice when it comes to preventing children being in care. 
 
The number of looked after children continues to increase year on year, despite policy 
supporting children to remain with their families and out of care, including prevention 
and early intervention schemes. Also too often children are placed far from home at 
great expense, removing them from their families and sourcing appropriate, regulated 
placements is often difficult. Alongside this the secure accommodation system often is 
unable to meet young people’s needs and there continues to be a lack of investment in 
expanding residential care for looked after children with complex needs, to support them 
to remain close to home and transition to independent living. 
 
The Children’s Commissioner visited each of the seven Regional Partnership Boards 
during 2019, and produced a report, No Wrong Door: bringing services together to meet 
children’s needs42, it focused on children with complex emotional wellbeing or mental 
health needs and young people with learning disabilities transitioning to adult services. 
The report found that children are waiting too long to receive the help they need, and 
are being ‘bounced’ between services which cannot agree who is responsible for their 
care. The Commissioner concluded that there is a pressing need for a ‘No Wrong Door’ 
approach, where the child’s needs and circumstances are responded to in a holistic, 
multi-agency, wraparound way, and children and young people feel confident that 
wherever they go for help should be able either to provide support directly, or to point 
them in the right direction for support. 
 
This report added further evidence to the need to develop joint social care and health 
commissioned residential provision for children with complex emotional wellbeing and 
mental health needs. To respond to this evidence and lack of investment, Regional 
Partnership Boards have been identified as the collective vehicle for delivering 
therapeutic, multi-disciplinary services. Regional Partnership Boards are supporting a 
small number of developments which will enable young people placed away to return 
closer to home.  
 
The Commissioner also found that young people with learning disability still have 
complicated and stressful transition to adulthood.  An earlier report, ‘Don’t Hold Back’, 
2018 had found that young people and their families were not involved enough in their 
own care, there were different thresholds across services, and every service had a 
different way of managing transition from child to adult services. Although there were 
promising signs, there had not been much change on the ground. As the Commissioner 
noted, Regional Partnership Boards should be ideally placed to broker arrangements 
between child and adult services to ensure integrated transitions for young people with 
learning disability. 
 

                                                        
42 The Children's Commissioner for Wales report- No wrong door: bringing services together to meet 
children’s needs 

Page 68

https://www.childcomwales.org.uk/publications/no-wrong-door-bringing-services-together-to-meet-childrens-needs/
https://www.childcomwales.org.uk/publications/no-wrong-door-bringing-services-together-to-meet-childrens-needs/


 

23 
 

Public services working together 
 
Individuals, their families and carers may require care and support from more than one 
professional or organisation. Where this is the case, services should be effectively co-
ordinated and delivered to meet needs. When all partners work effectively together it 
improves outcomes for people. It also means that resources are used in the most 
effective and efficient way. The key aims of partnership and integration can be 
described as follows:  

 To improve care and support, ensuring people have more voice and control; 

 To improve well-being outcomes; 

 To provide co-ordinated, person centred care and support; and 

 To make more effective use of resources, skills and expertise. 
 
A Healthier Wales reinforces the critical importance of public services working together 
and the role the Welsh Government should play to enable that. In considering how 
social care is arranged, its relationship with healthcare remains important.  The housing 
and education sectors also have key roles to work in partnership to support people. 
 
The Act set clear expectations and sought to provide equally clear means for partners 
with a direct role in arranging or delivering care and support, to work together effectively 
at a strategic level, including to set pooled budgets to deliver truly integrated services. 
Part 9 of the Act and section 25 of the Children Act 2004 together require local 
authorities and relevant partners to co-operate, it also provides for partnership 
arrangements between local authorities and local health boards for the discharge of 
their functions and a requirement for formal partnership arrangements through Regional 
Partnership Boards (RPBs).  
 
The Welsh Government has made two key grant funding streams available to RPBs to 
support them to drive forward integration; the Transformation Fund and the Integrated 
Care Fund. Recent reviews of these funds provide useful evidence about the progress 
of partnership working at the regional level.       

 An Audit Wales report about the Integrated Care Fund 43 was published by Audit 
Wales in July 2019. The aim of the Integrated Care Fund is to drive and enable 
integrated working between social services, health, housing and the third sector 
and independent providers to develop sustainable services. It is distributed to 
RPBs, which oversee and manage the fund in their area, and there are capital 
and revenue-based allocations each year. RPBs approve revenue projects and 
submit an annual Revenue Investment Plan to Welsh Government. Capital 
proposals are submitted to Welsh Government for approval and are grant-
funded. Overall, Audit Wales concluded that the fund has a positive impact, and 
is provided an impetus for partners to develop integrated services and move to 
joint funding arrangements in the context of wider policy and legislation. 

 

 The Transformation Fund was established to speed up the development and 
scaling up of new models of health and social services provision. It focused on 
three areas: seamless alignment of health and social care; local primary and 
community-based health and social care delivery; and new integrated 

                                                        
43 Integrated Care Fund (Auditor General for Wales, July 2019) 

Page 69

https://www.audit.wales/system/files/publications/integrated-care-fund-report-eng.pdf


 

24 
 

preventative services and activities. It is delivered via RPBs, and 30 projects 
have been supported across the seven regions. A mid-term report44 in April 2020 
noted that the fund seems to be having a positive impact in getting partners to 
work together and there is some initial evidence across regions where staff are 
starting to think differently and change their working culture.  

Although the evidence suggests that regions are effective in working collaboratively to 
deploy Welsh Government allocated grant budgets, progress to share or pool budgets 
and action in order to achieve added value and better performance has varied. A report 
into the use of pooled budgets in older people’s residential care, which was produced 
for Welsh Government by KPMG in 202045, has shown only moderate progress, and 
notes that RPBs are predominantly meeting the minimum requirements. The report 
identifies a number of areas for development, including: 

 Many RPBs do not physically pool budgets and where they do, the majority are 
not actively prioritising and managing the budgets as a single fund; 

 RPB are concerned about the risk of cross–subsidisation across local authority 
boundaries. Currently none of the RPBs share financial risks although there is 
increased transparency of activity, expenditure and risks; 

 RPBs can only make recommendations and not decisions as they are not legal 
entities;  

 RPBs are concerned about managing a diverse cohort of need across localities; 
and 

 Identified good practice such as the establishment of a pooled funds manager to 
maximise operational and financial performance should be shared. 

 
A thematic review by CIW, Prevention and promotion of independence for older 
people46, in September 2020, based on inspections and fieldwork undertaken during 
2019, found that progress towards partnership and integrated service delivery for older 
people remains very mixed. There is evidence of integrated partnership approaches in 
some areas but overall a ‘red’ status for partnership working and integration was 
awarded. The report details numerous examples of joint community resource teams 
working as equal partners, and in some areas jointly funded posts and management 
teams across health and social services. Whilst this does not necessarily mean better 
integration, it clearly provides opportunity to communicate, recognise common ground 
and shared responsibility. In addition strategic commissioning through population 
assessments and area plans is still in its infancy and delivering limited impact. The 
report says that partners do not share a clear strategic vision of sustainable health and 
social care services, and leaders and senior managers are still focusing on service 
delivery within their own areas of control, rather than on people and outcomes.  
 
RPBs ability to meet their responsibilities could be regarded as limited in that they do 
not have all the functions that may be needed to deliver integration. They have no 
directly accountable staff or controllable budget. The Welsh Government’s formal 
evaluation on the implementation of the Act concluded that a priority for further 
                                                        
  Mid-point evaluation of ‘A Healthier Wales’ Transformation Fund (research, for Welsh Government, April 
2020) 
45 Report on Regional Partnership Boards' use of pooled budgets for care home accommodation by 
KPMG 2020 
46 Care Inspectorate Wales report on prevention and promotion of independence for older adults, 
September 2020 

  

Page 70

%20%20Mid-point%20evaluation%20of%20‘A%20Healthier%20Wales’%20Transformation%20Fund%20(research,%20for%20Welsh%20Government,%20April%202020)
%20%20Mid-point%20evaluation%20of%20‘A%20Healthier%20Wales’%20Transformation%20Fund%20(research,%20for%20Welsh%20Government,%20April%202020)
https://gov.wales/regional-partnership-boards-use-pooled-budgets-care-home-accommodation


 

25 
 

implementation included the continuation and development of integration and 
partnerships, monitoring and evidencing outcomes, and the infrastructure to facilitate 
integrated working. Given the mixed progress identified above and the legislative 
limitations of Part 9 of the Act, RPBs need further support to achieve the optimum 
benefit from their collective capacity to lead change. 
 
Prevention 
 
Prevention is at the heart of the Welsh Government’s programme of change for social 
services. There is a need to focus on prevention and early intervention to make social 
services sustainable into the future. It is vital that care and support services do not wait 
to respond until people reach a crisis point. Section 14 of the Act requires that local 
authorities and local health boards jointly carry out a strategic assessment of needs for 
care and support and support needs for carers. That assessment must also assess the 
range and level of services necessary to deliver preventative services. Section 15 of the 
Act requires local authorities to provide or arrange for the provision of these 
preventative services. 
 
There is no one definition for what constitutes preventative activity. It can be anything 
that helps meet an identified need and could range from wide-scale measures aimed at 
the whole population to more targeted individual interventions, including mechanisms to 
enable people to actively engage in making decisions about their lives.  
 
Some key progress has been made, supported through partners deploying the 
Integrated Care Fund and Transformation Fund, in developing new models of 
preventative service delivery. The third sector in particular have helped to bring this 
focus and capability for prevention to the RPB agenda. However, competing priorities 
and increased demand for services to meet more complex needs often means a focus 
of commissioning and delivery on the acute services, which are more costly and which 
squeeze the capacity for preventative work. This is particularly noticeable for care and 
support for children. 
 

Lessons from other parts of the UK 
 
Although health and social care systems have evolved in different ways and at a 
different pace across the UK since devolution, there is much experience and innovation 
that can be shared and lessons learned between the four nations, with regard to 
collaborative working and integration. What the systems all have in common is a drive 
to rebalance care away from the acute hospital setting towards prevention and support 
within the community and at home. 
 
Northern Ireland is unique in the UK in having arranged health and social care within the 
same organisational structure through the Health and Social Care (Reform) Act 
(Northern Ireland) 2009. A recent report by the Nuffield Trust47 has shown having an 
integrated system does not in itself result in social care being accorded a higher priority 
or in smoother working across the sectors. The Northern Irish experience reinforces the 
message that effective leadership and scrutiny, within a culture that promotes 

                                                        
47Change or Collapse: Lessons from the drive to reform health and social care in Northern Ireland by the 
Nuffield Trust, July 2019   

Page 71

https://www.nuffieldtrust.org.uk/files/2019-07/nuffield-trust-change-or-collapse-web-final.pdf
https://www.nuffieldtrust.org.uk/files/2019-07/nuffield-trust-change-or-collapse-web-final.pdf


 

26 
 

innovation and genuine partnership working, are ultimately more important than 
structures.  
 
In England a partnership approach is evolving based around Integrated Care Systems 
(ICSs), which take collective responsibility for managing resources and delivering health 
and social care. These are yet to be given legal status and it is expected that the UK 
Government will publish proposals and draft legislation on ICSs in the first part of 2021. 
The Kings Fund 202048 noted there is wide variation in the maturity of partnership 
working across these systems. The systems that are furthest ahead are those that have 
given priority to strengthening collaborative relationships and trust between partner 
organisations and their leaders. This has often been achieved by leaders from different 
organisations spending time together to work through the challenges facing the system 
and individual organisations, clarifying a shared purpose for working together, and 
undertaking focused development work with their leadership groups. The Kings Fund 
also noted that collaborating across the NHS and local government is not easy, and 
requires local leaders (including NHS leaders as well as officers and elected members 
in local government) to better understand each other’s challenges, to recognise and 
respect differences in governance, accountabilities, funding and performance regimes, 
and to find ways to manage these differences. 
 
The majority of Scottish local health and social care partnerships have adopted a model 
of where arrangements are delegated to a third body, known as an Integration Joint 
Board (IJB), through the Public Bodies (Joint Working) (Scotland) Act 2014. The IJBs 
are responsible for the governance, planning and resourcing of social care, primary and 
community healthcare, and unscheduled hospital care for adults. Some have also 
integrated additional services including children’s services, social work, criminal justice 
services and all acute hospital services. A report from the Ministerial Strategic Group for 
Health and Community Care (Scottish Government, February 2019)49 reviewed 
progress on the Health and Social Care integration and noted Scottish Integration Joint 
Boards have struggled to exert influence on the budget-setting process as partners are 
unwilling to give up financial control. Partners must be empowered to use the totality of 
their resources to do things differently. The report noted that joint resources held must 
lose their original identity and become a single budget. 
 
As this brief review has shown, the other UK countries continue to strengthen 
collaborative relationships, however no one country has found the answer. Similar to 
Wales, England and Scotland have taken a partnership arrangement approach, as 
opposed to a structural one. The key lessons from their progress that can be applied to 
any partnership arrangement is clear. Organisations have different governance, 
accountability funding and performance requirements, this must be recognised and 
partners must find ways to manage these differences to do things differently. Proposals 
set out in this paper should avoid structural disruption where it is not needed and 
instead focus on strategic enhancement that will strengthen current arrangements to 
secure well-being for people who need care and support and carers who need support.  

                                                        
48 The King's Fund- Integrated care systems explained: making sense of systems, places and 
neighbourhoods   
49  
Health and Social Care integration: progress review – final report from the Ministerial Strategic Group for 
Health and Community Care (Scottish Government, February 2019) 

 

Page 72

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/integrated-care-systems-explained#commissioning
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/integrated-care-systems-explained#commissioning
Health%20and%20Social%20Care%20integration:%20progress%20review%20–%20final%20report%20from%20the%20Ministerial%20Strategic%20Group%20for%20Health%20and%20Community%20Care%20(Scottish%20Government,%20February%202019)
Health%20and%20Social%20Care%20integration:%20progress%20review%20–%20final%20report%20from%20the%20Ministerial%20Strategic%20Group%20for%20Health%20and%20Community%20Care%20(Scottish%20Government,%20February%202019)


 

27 
 

Achieving the vision 
 

Design 
 
Based on the challenges outlines in the Case for Change section of this paper, three 
critical areas emerge where additional focused action could deliver system-wide 
improvement to secure the vision for social care: 
 

 refocussing the fundamentals of the care market – away from price towards a 
value measure based upon service quality and overall cost; 

 reorientation of commissioning practices – managing the market and focusing on 
outcomes; and 

 evolution of integration mechanisms – reducing barriers to joint planning and 
delivery. 

 
In forming this frame of reference we have drawn on important guiding frameworks.  The 
five ways of working set out in the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
call on us to balance the short term and long term, and in terms of collaboration to test 
whether our arrangements help us work together effectively.  A Healthier Wales design 
principles compel health and social care system leaders to “[develop] services which are 
less complex and better co-ordinated for the individual; [where there should be] close 
professional integration, joint working, and information sharing between services and 
providers.”   
 
Through action in the three areas identified above, this White Paper seeks to rebalance 
the care and support market based on a clear national framework where services are 
organised regionally and delivered locally.  In doing so we aim to rebalance social care 
so that there is neither an over reliance on the private sector, nor a monopoly in the 
other direction.  This White paper defines ‘rebalancing’ broadly as a set of descriptions 
of the system change we want to see. 
 
Refocussing the fundamentals of the care market 
 

Rebalancing means… 

… Away from price. Towards quality and social value… 

… to co-produce better outcomes with people. 

 
The majority of care and support is provided through a market structure known as a 
monopsony50. This market structure, in the financial context of austerity, has resulted in 
‘price’ becoming its dominant feature. If the vision is for high quality social care that 
supports people to achieve their outcomes, the price-orientated market structure that 
has evolved over time is not the route to achieving that. This was recognised in the 
Welsh Government’s recent Strengthening Social Partnerships White Paper51, which 

                                                        
50 Definition of monopsony is where there are a small number of purchasers and a large number of 
providers.  Local authorities are the main buyer of the social care market; in the context of austerity, this 
market structure and pressurised budgets has caused a driving down of fees and costs. 
51 Welsh Government White Paper- A More Equal Wales: Strengthening Social Partnership 2019 

Page 73

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2019-11/strengthening-social-partnership-white-paper-consultation-document.pdf


 

28 
 

said that the modern era of our social partnership arrangements has been dominated, 
and shaped by our response to economic crisis and the challenges of chronic UK public 
sector austerity.  
 
Value for money will remain important, and care and support that is commissioned by 
local authorities and local health boards will continue to need to demonstrate efficient 
use of tax payers’ resources.  Value for money in this context is about delivering 
effective services, at a cost which delivers strong social outcomes52. 
 
To do this, we look to service commissioners to focus on specifying, scoring and 
measuring against providers’ ability to deliver multiple outcomes against the overarching 
duties set out in the Act to achieve quality services and secure well-being, balanced 
against value for money. Commissioners should continue to define the sort of 
capabilities and experience required of tendering organisations, and procurement teams 
should work with commissioners on how they build this into the procurement 
assessment process53.  
 
Critically, the rebalancing towards a market which incentivises quality will require the 
Welsh Government and all local commissioners to work together to agree and 
implement robustly a common framework. Learning from the Children’s Commissioning 
Consortium Cymru’s approach to focussing on quality placements that are affordable 
should be applied to the development of a proposed framework. 
 
More predictable, standardised approaches to fee setting can reduce provider 
competition for staff through marginal pay differences. The case for change highlighted 
the relationship between pay, terms and conditions on staff turnover and the impact of 
staff turnover on service quality. Greater consistency of the workforce providing care 
and support and less turnover allows people to build relationships with people that 
provide care and support, feel safe and more secure, thus improving quality of social 
care and well-being outcomes. Therefore clear expectations for improved terms and 
conditions including pay, should be a core part of determining the funding 
methodologies. The Welsh Government has accepted the recommendations of the Fair 
Work Commission54 and is committed to working with partners towards implementing 
the Real Living Wage across social care. Fair work means a more productive, happier 
workforce, greater levels of commitment and engagement, less absenteeism and lower 
staff turnover55.  
  

                                                        
52 Welsh Government White Paper- A More Equal Wales: Strengthening Social Partnership 2019 
53 Wales Co-operative Centre report- Supporting Care Commissioners and Procurers to promote social 
value models 2020 
54 Fair work commission- terms of reference  
55 Welsh Government White Paper- A More Equal Wales: Strengthening Social Partnership 2019 

Page 74

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2019-11/strengthening-social-partnership-white-paper-consultation-document.pdf
https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwales.coop%2Fsocial-value-models-report%2F&data=04%7C01%7CAmira.Evans035%40gov.wales%7C2a96b130cb4142ea9ab208d898550aeb%7Ca2cc36c592804ae78887d06dab89216b%7C0%7C0%7C637426838302600851%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=UrUy5XL1qbkr%2F5TX1QQ1DFpAXSkWzvxjLRSP6kWgLkM%3D&reserved=0
https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwales.coop%2Fsocial-value-models-report%2F&data=04%7C01%7CAmira.Evans035%40gov.wales%7C2a96b130cb4142ea9ab208d898550aeb%7Ca2cc36c592804ae78887d06dab89216b%7C0%7C0%7C637426838302600851%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=UrUy5XL1qbkr%2F5TX1QQ1DFpAXSkWzvxjLRSP6kWgLkM%3D&reserved=0
https://gov.wales/fair-work-commission
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2019-11/strengthening-social-partnership-white-paper-consultation-document.pdf


 

29 
 

Reorientation of commissioning practices  
 

Rebalancing means… 

…Away from complexity.  Towards simplification.  

Away from task-based practice. Towards an outcome-based practice. 

Away from reactive commissioning. Towards managing the market…. 

… to co-produce better outcomes with people. 

 
Whilst the Act has provided greater focus on securing well-being for people, the case for 
change has highlighted that commissioning practices can still be task-orientated. The 
evaluation of the implementation of the Act identified a significant challenge to arranging 
and delivering care and support because of the lack of co-ordination between local 
authorities leading to twenty two potentially different ways of doing things.  
 
Critically, with an environment that favours quality, and where procurement is based on 
a simpler approach, commissioners will be freer to innovate to support the creation of 
the new models of care that are needed for changing population needs. Commissioning 
practice will therefore shift away from task management, and multiple small 
procurements and associated time-consuming management activity, towards social 
value based commissioning that secures well-being for people. In doing this, 
commissioners and planners are enabled to develop all the important parts of the 
commissioning cycle56, such as capacity building, market development and market 
relationships.  
 
A common framework will enable a greater degree of joint-commissioning. As a basis 
for closer partnership working, it can ensure service delivery outcomes align with what 
matters to people and on Foundational Economy and social value initiatives.  
Whilst there is no single, agreed definition of “social value”, Social Enterprise UK define 
social value as the additional benefit to the community from a commissioning/ 
procurement process over and above the direct purchasing of goods, services and 
outcomes. In social care in Wales it has been used to create phrases like “social value 
organisations” and “social value forums”. These phrases have come to be used as 
short-hand for organisations referenced in section 16 of Part 2 of the Act, which sets out 
models for care and support that strive to deliver on the principles of the Act. 
 
Progress can be made towards a more diverse provider base and rebalancing the 
market by supporting alternative models of care. Focusing on social value 
commissioning will create an environment in which not-for-profit providers can grow, 
including co-operatives, whilst simultaneously encouraging all providers to develop their 
capacity for delivering social value. The whole sector will be better placed to engage in 
consistently effective co-production from the earliest stages of assessing, planning, 
delivering and evaluating care and support.   
 

                                                        
 

Page 75



 

30 
 

Providers also have much to gain from this new approach. The removal of much 
complexity will enable providers to increase their focus on supporting people to achieve 
their personal outcomes. 
 
The case for change described the care and support market as large and varied, 
consisting mostly of smaller private providers with narrow margins and limited financial 
reserves. Within these new arrangements, small providers will be encouraged to work 
together to respond to local commissions. This could be achieved by the development 
of a collective approach to enabling shared activities, such as marketing, procurement, 
HR and IT support. This approach will contribute to the rebalancing of the care and 
support market to fewer individual providers competing for contracts, reducing time-
consuming activity and complexity. 
 

Evolution of integration mechanisms  
 

Rebalancing means… 

… Away from an organisational focus. Towards more effective partnership 

… to co-produce better outcomes with people. 

 

The interdependency of social care and healthcare is at the heart of A Healthier Wales.  
For adults, the necessity for close alignment of these services enables people to live as 
independently as possible and is critical to prevention and early intervention.  Close joint 
working enables people to return to their home after a period in hospital, and is 
fundamental to the success of the new Discharge to Recover and Assess Model of 
Care.   
 
The relationship between social care, the NHS, housing organisations and the 
education sector is particularly important to provide coordinated person centred care 
and support. At a regional level, these partners can make more effective use of 
resources, skills and expertise to improve well-being outcomes. RPBs bring partners 
together along with representatives of citizens, carers and other important voices.  RPB 
members recognise the emerging benefits from their partnership and want to build on 
joint commissioning arrangements57. RPBs’ role is complementary to other regional and 
local partnerships, and better alignment between these partnerships is the subject of 
ongoing work. 
 
The case for change pointed to progress made by RPBs and a number of 
achievements. It also outlined areas where progress has been more challenging, for 
example residential care for children. The Welsh Government’s evaluation of the Act 
points to the infrastructure of the RPBs requiring priority action to better facilitate 
integrated working. Therefore it is proposed that the current design of RPB functions are 
strengthened to enable them to deliver effectively.  
 
The approaches to partnership and integration adopted by other parts of the UK to 
enable the closer alignment of social care and health services (for example delegation 

                                                        
57 Report on Regional Partnership Boards' use of pooled budgets for care home accommodation by 
KPMG 2020 

Page 76

https://gov.wales/regional-partnership-boards-use-pooled-budgets-care-home-accommodation


 

31 
 

of budgets to a third party where some members are provided with voting powers 
through IJBs in Scotland) provides a basis to consider the strengths and weaknesses of 
different potential arrangements. 
 
The fundamental role of RPBs should remain as bringing partners together to jointly 
review population needs and plan the models of care and support that people will need.  
Joint analysis and planning, should, in areas where partners need to align services to 
achieve better outcomes, lead to joint commissioning of provision.  Reflecting on 
independent reports and direct feedback from the sector, we believe that to do this most 
effectively RPBs need to be equipped with additional tools to better align planning and 
organisation of services, and tangible organisational capacity to fully deliver to this 
mandate.  
  

Page 77



 

32 
 

Putting it into practice  
 

How can we do it? 
 
Current arrangements for social care need to be strengthened and re-aligned to 
respond to the range of challenges facing the sector, and to achieve the vision for social 
care set out in the Act, supporting people to achieve their well-being outcomes. The 
following set of proposals flow from a systems-thinking perspective and an analysis of 
the deficiencies in the market for social care provision and some limitations in current 
partnership structures. The changes advocated can reshape the organisation of social 
care profoundly and in the clear interests of those receiving care and support. It is 
proposed legislation is introduced to deliver the required change. 
 
A national framework for commissioning care and support for both children and adults 
can forge a more balanced market of better quality provision. The framework will help to 
ensure social value commissioning that supports people to achieve their outcomes, and 
fully utilises the assets that exist in local communities.  
 
A national framework can be a platform for implementing future recommendations of the 
Social Care Forum, across the sector in Wales. A national framework will set fee 
methodologies, develop more standardised commissioning processes, and increase 
transparency of service performance.  
 
Enhanced regional planning and a greater degree of joint commissioning across health 
and social care and across regional footprints would reduce complexity and duplication 
and improve consistency and capacity. This would enable commissioners to refocus on 
meeting changing population need through more directive market shaping. It is 
proposed therefore that the future of high quality social care that support people to 
achieve their outcomes is arranged through a structure comprising a national 
framework, where care and support is planned regionally and delivered locally. 
 
Strengthened regional organisation will enable greater integration and action amongst 
social care and its and partners, including health care and the voluntary sector, along 
with education and housing.  This approach would support social care as a part of the 
foundational economy and better enable integrated delivery, for example through the 
development of housing with care alongside community hubs. This will also help to 
maintain focus on preventative services and opportunities for alignment with Public 
Service Boards. 
 
In addition to addressing current sectoral challenges, the proposals would provide a 
better basis for the implementation of long term policy objectives. These include 
ensuring improved pay, terms and conditions for workforce to support a reduction in 
turnover and improvement in quality of care and a more resilient workforce and long-
term aspiration for a system that is closer to the NHS principle of healthcare free at the 
point of need.  
 
It will also enable the sector to reduce its environmental impact. The Welsh Government 
has set out its ambition for the public sector to be carbon neutral by 2030. Indirect 
carbon emissions from care and support providers are not directly controlled by local 
authorities, however dramatically cutting indirect emissions from the delivery of these 

Page 78



 

33 
 

services can be achieved through more effective procurement. Decarbonisation can be 
ensured through consistent procurement expectations requiring raised environmental 
standards from all organisations providing care and support.  The same tools can 
deliver foundational economy benefits through incentivising local sourcing of goods. 
 

Rebalancing the national framework 
 
It is not proposed that any current functions are transferred from local authorities or 
local health boards to be undertaken nationally. It is proposed that a national framework 
is developed that set the terms through which services for people who need care and 
support and carers who need support are commissioned – by developing a set of 
common commissioning practices and a range of fee methodologies that 
commissioners will be required in law to use, simplifying procurement and ensuring 
greater visibility of service standards.  
  
This is not to say there should be one price for care and support that is procured, but 
rather an agreed set of fee methodologies that all commissioners work with in future.  
Fee methodologies must be flexible enough to reflect local circumstances, for example 
different geographic factors, and be able to respond to the capacity and resourcing 
requirements of providers at different stages of their own business cycle. For example, 
new care models, particularly where capital investment is involved, will require different 
levels of support.   
 
Through the Act, a local authority is required to prepare a care and support plan for 
people whose needs meet the eligibility criteria, following a needs assessment. The 
care and support plan (or support plan for carers) describes how a person’s needs for 
care and support will be met, including detailing services that are to be arranged or 
provided by the local authority. Where services detailed in the plan are commissioned 
by the local health board, it is proposed that those services will also be commissioned 
using the national framework (for example NHS Funded Nursing Care).  
 
To develop and deliver a national framework, it is proposed that a ‘national office’ for 
social care is established either through: 

 developing a function within government, or 

 setting up an arms-length body, led by a small executive team.  
 

In both options, full engagement with local authorities, health boards, the independent 
sector and other key partners will be secured through an advisory board. 
The national office will maintain an overview of the stability of the social care market 
and be a basis for driving national policy initiatives. It will consolidate activity of some 
national fora including the National Commissioning Board, working with Social Care 
Wales, with responsibility for supporting social care research and service improvement 
in Wales. 
 
The voice of the social care profession must be fully reflected in national discourse, so 
that national policy set by the national office is based on a full understanding of delivery 
challenges.  The function of a Chief Social Care and Social Work Officer will be located 
within the Welsh Government to champion the voice of the social care and social work 
profession within Government. 
 

Page 79



 

34 
 

Strengthening regional organisation 
 
Local authorities and local health boards are required through section 14 of the Act to 
develop population needs assessments, area plans and market stability reports. These 
functions are discharged through partnership arrangements described in Part 9 of the 
Act and section 25 of the Children Act 2004, specifically through RPBs. These reports 
are intended to assist RPBs in jointly planning and commissioning quality care and 
support at a strategic level for their populations. 
  
In addition, the objectives of Regional Partnership Boards are to: 

 undertake and respond to the population assessment carried out in accordance 
with section 14 of the Act (and, when implemented, prepare market stability 
reports under section 144B of the Act); 

 implement the joint area plans which local authorities and local health boards are 
required to prepare and publish under section 14A of the Act; 

 ensure the partnership bodies provide sufficient resources for the partnership 
arrangements, in accordance with their powers under section 167 of the Act; and 

 promote the establishment of pooled funds where appropriate.  
 
RPBs are required to report on the extent to which the board’s objectives have been 
achieved annually58.  
 
This paper has suggested that RPBs should be provided with a more refined set of tools 
to enable them to better meet their core aims of jointly assessing and planning for 
population needs. It is proposed that RPBs should be strengthened by legislating to 
establish them as corporate legal entities. Strengthened RPBs with the tools of being 
able to directly employ staff and hold budgets would be capable of undertaking joint 
health and care commissioning more directly where local partners agree that would 
maximise resources and have the greatest benefit for delivering better outcomes. 
 
Specifically, in addition to the functions already set out in the Act, RPBs functions will be 
extended so that they would: 

 be enabled to employ staff to enable the full discharge of their functions (this is 
intended to boost joint planning, but the power could be used by RPBs in other 
ways); 

 have clear governance arrangements in place where shared accountability of 
decisions made by local authorities and local health boards in relation to the 
pooling of budgets and joint commissioning is transparent and in line with their 
statutory responsibilities; 

 set their own priorities for regional commissioning and delivery using intelligence 
from their population needs assessments, joint area plans and market stability 
reports; 

 be enabled to hold integrated budgets to deliver integrated regional services;  

 monitor progress against agreed regional priorities, sharing data between 
partners where appropriate; and 

                                                        
58 Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014- Codes and guidance: Part 9 Statutory Guidance 
(Partnership Arrangements)   

Page 80

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-02/part-9-statutory-guidance-partnership-arrangements.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-02/part-9-statutory-guidance-partnership-arrangements.pdf


 

35 
 

 establish within each RPB a planning and performance monitoring framework 
that refines the 5 year strategic planning cycle and makes use of up to date 
population, outcome, and market information. 

 
In line with the action in A Healthier Wales, RPBs would also be made subject to joint 
inspection and review by CIW and Healthcare Inspectorate Wales in relation to the 
effectiveness of joint working, including partnership working, pooled budgets and joint 
commissioning. 
 
The current planning requirements for a long cycle of population needs assessments 
and area plans is a broad framework, but does not always reflect a rapidly changing 
world.  Real-time population data, outcome measures and market information should be 
used to enable more frequent needs analysis and impact measurement. Plans should 
be revisited whenever significant changes occur in the care and support environment. 
To support this, a new approach to planning and reporting is intended. It will be less 
intensive, but a more frequent process of evaluating and responding to population 
needs.  
 
Clear regional integration priorities should provide a focus for the work of RPBs. Priority 
areas should define where collective action is the optimum means of improving delivery, 
and these areas must be considered for regional joint commissioning.  
 
The work of RPBs should be viewed by partners and stakeholders as being fully 
transparent and accountable. The changes proposed in this White Paper can be a basis 
for further strengthening of arrangements which support accountability. They will enable 
resources to be held within the partnership, overseen by RPB staff, with clear 
arrangements created for reporting fully to member organisations. 
 
RPBs will also be required to report to Welsh Ministers on the progress of joint delivery 
against the integrated priorities agreed. There should not be a growth in reporting 
requirements, rather it is proposed that reporting requirements are streamlined, 
including by consolidating current national requirements as part of the consideration of 
the future of national funding support.  
 
The proposal to strengthen RPBs as an existing part of the health and social care 
collaboration landscape must work alongside arrangements for Public Service Boards 
(PSBs). RPBs and PSBs have complementary functions. In the context of the ongoing 
requirements of respective legislation, regions and localities should align these 
partnerships in a way that works best in their circumstances. 
 
The proposals set out in this White Paper do not preclude any future extension of the 
functions of Corporate Joint Committees (CJCs) in relation to social care. CJCs could 
be a useful future mechanism to enable strategic local authority social care functions to 
be delivered more effectively across local authority boundaries.  
 

Impact on local authority and local health board commissioning of care and 
support 
 
Local authorities and local health boards will remain the principal commissioning bodies 
for social care services. Local services should be delivered as close as possible to local 

Page 81



 

36 
 

people. By reducing complexity a national framework will support local delivery without 
obscuring accountability. Based on the proposals in this paper, in future local authorities 
and local health boards will exercise their commissioning functions either directly or 
delegating them to the RPB.  Commissioning activities will be undertaken in accordance 
with the national framework, ensuring the full and fair use of national framework 
methodologies.  
  

Page 82



 

37 
 

Annex 1: Summary of the impacts 
 
The Welsh Government is preparing an integrated impact assessment on the proposals 
outlined in this White Paper, including the social, economic, cultural and environmental 
effects represented in the Well-being Goals of the Well-being of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act 2015. A Regulatory Impact Assessment (RIA) will also be developed and 
this consultation is being used to gather evidence to inform that assessment.  
 
In developing the proposals, the Welsh Government has considered the ‘five ways of 
working’ set out in the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 which 
requires a focus on the long term, and in terms of collaboration to test whether our 
arrangements help us work together effectively.  The Welsh Government has also 
considered A Healthier Wales design principles to develop services which are less 
complex and better co-ordinated for the individual; where there should be close 
professional integration, joint working, and information sharing between local 
authorities, local health boards and providers.   

This annex includes a summary of some of the impacts of the proposed changes on 
people, the workforce and social care services in Wales. 

People who need care and support and carers who need support 
 

 Supporting the sector to respond to the implementation gap in relation to the Welsh 
Government’s vision for social care will better drive outcomes for people in Wales. 
This paper highlighted the variable and sometimes negative experience that people 
have with care and support, which impacts on the vision of securing well-being. The 
Act puts a duty on local authorities and their partners to promote the well-being of 
people who need care and support and carers who need support in Wales. The Act 
sets out the definition of well-being. The Act also places a duty on Welsh Ministers to 
issue a statement of well-being outcomes to be achieved. The well-being statement 
defines well-being outcomes for all people who need care and support and carers 
who need support in Wales, which include people in protected groups. The 
proposals set out in this White Paper aim to better services to deliver their functions 
so that people who need care and support and carers who need support can 
achieve their well-being. An RIA was developed for the Act and the impacts on 
people are the same as the proposals in this paper. The proposals aim to increase 
the pace at which those impacts are realised. The RIA can be found in the 
Explanatory memorandum available below: 
https://business.senedd.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=5664 
 

 The aim of the Act is to put into law the rights and responsibilities of people who 
need care and support and carers who need support. The social care sector will use 
the statement of well-being to design and deliver services with people. This will be 
an important driver in the shift to an approach which puts people at the centre, the 
outcomes they wish to achieve, and in giving them greater voice and control. The 
case for change section of this White Paper outlines how change is needed to make 
a difference to the people of Wales. The Welsh Government worked extensively with 
people to develop the well-being statement. The approach to engagement is detailed 
in the equality impact assessment for the national outcomes framework59. 

                                                        
59 Social services national outcomes framework- equality -impact assessment 

Page 83

https://business.senedd.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=5664


 

38 
 

 
The social care workforce 
 

 The case for change highlighted the relationship between pay, terms and conditions 
on staff turnover and the resulting impact of staff turnover on service quality. Greater 
consistency of the workforce providing care and support and less turnover allows 
people to build relationships with people that provide care and support, feel safe and 
more secure, thus improving quality of social care and well-being outcomes. People 
are more likely to see the same person, increasing ability to maintain relationships, 
and reduce loneliness and isolation, leading to higher quality of care. Standardised 
and improved pay and terms and conditions, which could be achieved through a 
national framework, would positively impact: 

o Women. The workforce is typically ageing and gendered, with the vast 
majority of staff of commissioned care providers being female. On 5 March 
2019, the Deputy Minister and Chief Whip, Jane Hutt AM, outlined the Welsh 
Government’s vision for gender equality in Wales, which stated that “…a 
gender equal Wales means an equal sharing of power, resources and 
influence for all women, men and non-binary people. This is a vision where 
the government aims to create the conditions for equality of outcome for all.”  

o Attracting young people to social care. Over a half of the workforce is aged 
over 4060. There may be a reduction of those wishing to enter social care as 
school leavers, especially women, become more highly educated and there is 
greater competition from other sectors, such as retail, where pay is often 
slightly higher for less demanding work and the regulatory requirements on, 
for example, qualifications are lower. 

o Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic workers who are overrepresented in the 
social care workforce and account for 7.2 per cent of the workforce in 
Wales61.  

 
Services 
 

 Standardising and simplifying through a national framework supports an approach to 
make better use of collective resources, across local authority boundaries, in 
response to population needs and outcomes. The removal of some duplication and 
inefficiencies in the commissioning process can free up commissioners’ time to 
develop other elements of the commissioning cycle.  

 A national framework that sets out terms through which care and support is 
commissioned must consider pay, terms and conditions of the workforce. 
Improvement to pay, terms and conditions will in part reflect the overall resources 
available to the sector and potentially progress decisions made in future by the 
Social Care Forum.   

 Strengthening RPBs will better support effective joint planning and delivery of care 
and support where collective capacity leads to better outcomes for people, 
supporting statutory bodies to better deliver their current functions.  
  

                                                        
60 Factors that affect the recruitment and retention of domiciliary care workers and the extent to which 
these factors impact upon the quality of domiciliary care  
61 Welsh Government analysis of the Annual Population Survey - Coronavirus (COVID-19) and the Black, 
Asian and  Minority Ethnic (BAME) population in Wales    

Page 84

https://gweddill.gov.wales/docs/caecd/research/2016/160317-factors-affect-recruitment-retention-domiciliary-care-workers-final-en.pdf
https://gweddill.gov.wales/docs/caecd/research/2016/160317-factors-affect-recruitment-retention-domiciliary-care-workers-final-en.pdf
Welsh%20Government%20analysis%20of%20the%20Annual%20Population%20Survey%20-%20Coronavirus%20(COVID-19)%20and%20the%20Black,%20Asian%20and%20%20Minority%20Ethnic%20(BAME)%20population%20in%20Wales%20
Welsh%20Government%20analysis%20of%20the%20Annual%20Population%20Survey%20-%20Coronavirus%20(COVID-19)%20and%20the%20Black,%20Asian%20and%20%20Minority%20Ethnic%20(BAME)%20population%20in%20Wales%20


 

39 
 

Annex 2: Summary of the consultation questions  
 
The Welsh Government welcome comments on all aspects of the proposals. We are 
particularly interested in responses to the questions. A summary of the questions is 
provided below.  
 
Question 1: Do you agree that complexity in the social care sector inhibits service 
improvement? 
 
Question 2: Do you agree that commissioning practices are disproportionately 
focussed on procurement? 
 
Question 3: Do you agree that the ability of RPBs to deliver on their responsibilities is 
limited by their design and structure? 
 
Question 4: Do you agree a national framework that includes fee methodologies and 
standardised commissioning practices will reduce complexity and enable a greater 
focus on service quality?  
 
Question 4a: - What parts of the commissioning cycle should be reflected in the national 
framework? 
 
Question 5: Do you agree that all commissioned services provided or arranged through 
a care and support plan, or support plan for carers, should be based on the national 
framework? 
 
Question 5a- Proposals include NHS provision of funded nursing care, but do not 
include continuing health care; do you agree with this? 
 
Question 5b- Are there other services which should be included in the national 
framework? 
 
Question 6: Do you agree that the activities of some existing national groups should be 
consolidated through a national office? 
 
Question 6a- If so, which ones?  
 
Question 7: Do you agree that establishing RPBs as corporate legal entities capable of 
directly employing staff and holding budgets would strengthen their ability to fulfil their 
responsibilities? 
 
Question 7a- Are there other functions that should be considered to further strengthen 
regional integration through RPBs? 
 
Question 8: Do you agree that real-time population, outcome measures and market 
information should be used more frequently to analyse needs and service provision? 

Question 8a- Within the 5 year cycle, how can this best be achieved? 

Question 9: Do you consider that further change is needed to address the challenges 
highlighted in the case for change? 

Page 85



 

40 
 

 
Question 9a- what should these be? 
 
Question 10: What do you consider are the costs, and cost savings, of the proposals to 
introduce a national office and establish RPBs as corporate entities? 
 
Question 10a- Are there any particular or additional costs associated with the proposals 
you wish to raise? 
 

Welsh language 
 
Question 11: We would like to know your views on the effects that a national framework 
for commissioning social care with regionally organised services, delivered locally would 
have on the Welsh language, specifically on opportunities for people to use Welsh and 
on treating the Welsh language no less favorably than English.  
  
What effects do you think there would be?  How could positive effects be increased, or 
negative effects be mitigated?  
  
Question 12: Please also explain how you believe the proposed policy to develop a 
national framework for commissioning social care with regionally organised services, 
delivered locally could be formulated or changed so as to have positive effects or 
increased positive effects on opportunities for people to use the Welsh language and on 
treating the Welsh language no less favourably than the English language, and 
no adverse effects on opportunities for people to use the Welsh language and on 
treating the Welsh language no less favourably than the English language.  
  
 
 

Page 86



 

 

Meeting Cabinet 

Date 9 March 2021 

Cabinet 
Member 

Councillor Dafydd Meurig 

Officer Rhion Glyn 
Senior Business Manager – Adults, Health and Well being 
Department 

Title Residential and Nursing Fees 2021/22 

 

1. The decision sought 

Approval of the residential and nursing fees, Option A, to be agreed with 

independent providers for 2021/22.    

 

2. Reasons for the need for a decision 

In order that we pay fair fees to finance the care of individuals who are placed 

by us in independent residential and nursing homes.  The increase 

recommended takes us further than the level of inflation which has currently 

been set in the budget and therefore would mean an additional financial 

investment.   

 

3. Introduction 

We review our residential and nursing fees on an annual basis when setting our 

budgets for the following year.  This year we are doing so in the context of 

detailed conversations which are underway with providers regarding their costs 

of providing residential and nursing services.   

 

4. Background 

During the past few years it has become apparent that our current fee 

arrangements are unsustainable.  This is reflected in the fact that we are 

seeing an increase in the homes which refuse our standard fees and demand 

higher fees.  At present, 8 of the 22 independent homes in Gwynedd are 

refusing our standard fee in some way or another, which usually means that 

they raise additional fees, or ‘top up fees’ to be paid by the individual who is 

receiving the care, the family, or by ourselves in circumstances where that is 

not possible.  We have also seen examples in homes during the past year of 

staffing shortages and problems with management and leadership, and in three 

cases have dealt with those situations through the formal ‘Escalating Concerns’ 

arrangements.    

  

 

5. Arrangement for the review of fees 

Page 90

Agenda Item 9



5.1 The arrangements for the annual review of fees happen regionally, and we 

have four categories of fee, namely:   

 Residential 

 Residential (dementia – high dependency) 

 Nursing 

 Nursing (dementia – high dependency) 

 

5.2 A standard tool by the Laing & Buisson company is used for this work, and 

although this process ensures consistency across the region, it was agreed in 

2017/18 that local authorities should be given the flexibility to adapt part of the 

tool in order to respond to the situation of the market locally.  That part being 

the Return On Investment (ROI).  Gwynedd uses this flexibility to ensure a 

higher proportion of ROI for the placements of individuals with the most 

intensive needs.   

6 Steps taken to address the situation   

6.1 In 2019/20, work began to prepare a business case to look at options for the 

way ahead:   

-  Discussions were held with each provider regarding the costs of their care  

- An agreement was reached with a number of them that they would be 

prepared to take part in an ‘open book accounting’ exercise  

- The Council’s Research Unit began on work to assess the care costs of 

providers  

6.2 Unfortunately, it has been necessary to pause this work because of the 

pandemic, and therefore we are not yet in a situation to offer ooptions which 

could possibly result in new model to fund care costs.    

7 Providers’ opinions 

7.1 Providers regularly express that the fees are insufficient to meet the costs of 

providing care, and they have recently been drawing attention to the increase 

in the management and administration costs.  Recent evidence of our cases of 

homes which have had to be placed in the formal quality procedure of 

‘Escalating Concerns’ suggest deficiencies in:   

- Leadership  

- Staff shortages and staff turnover  

- Maintaining timely and current records of the care details of individuals   

7.2 Gwynedd providers also draw our attention to the standard fee of Council 

homes, and the fact that it is higher than the fee which we pay independent 

providers.  It is noted that the standard fee for Council homes in 2020/21 is 

£733.67, and it is anticipated that it will increase to around £750 in 2021/22.   

  

Page 91



7.3 In addition, this year, providers have emphasised the need to acknowledge the 

costs of agency workers which they shoulder (costs which have increased since 

before the time of the pandemic).   

8 Ongoing discussions regarding setting fees for 2021/22  

8.1 This year, in contrast to the arrangements in previous years, the regional 

partnership has held its own consultation with a representation of provicers.  

This was done on 4 December 2020 in accordance with the principles of ‘Let’s 

agree to agree’, which is the Government’s comissioning tool for commissioners 

and providers to agree on the cost of residential care for older people in Wales.  

It is believed that this is a step in the right direction, but there is 

acknowledgement at the same time that there is further work to be done.  On 

the basis of the regional work which has been done therefore, four choices 

have been submitted for consideration.   

 

 Standard increase 

 Option A 

 Option B 

 Option C 

8.2 The options differ in the combination they offer of % Consumer Price Index 

(CPI), an acknowledgement of the costs of agency staff and living wage 

elements.  These are the main aspects which were highlighted by the providers 

in their discussions with the partnership.  It is noted that the flexibility to adapt 

the ROI continues, and therefore means that the fees are likely to continue to 

be different across the region even if each authority agrees to decide on the 

same option.  We currently understand that most North Wales authorities are 

likely to go for Option A.     

  

Page 92



9 The regional options 

9.1  Options table 

Standard increase 
2.2% to ensure 
payment of the 
National Living Wage 
(NLW) and 0.5% 
Consumer Price Index 
(CPI)(inflationary 
increase in the care 
field) 

This would maintain our current arrangements and mean 
that it would not be necessary to make a request for 
additional funding.  However, the commissioning 
arrangement is fragile as it is, and it could create 
instability in the marketplace and unforseen costs as it 
leads to more providers charging additional fees.     

Option A 
2.2% National Living 
Wage 
2% CPI 
5% agency 
overheads (an 
increase from the 
current 1.5%) 
 

Although this choice does not go far enough in terms of 
where we want to be in order to ensure that independent 
providers can pay a fair wage to staff, approving this fee 
would demonstrate that we are listening and responding 
to the current pressures on providers, taking a step in the 
right direction as we continue to work on assessing the 
true costs of care.   

Option B 
Paying Real Living 
Wage, namely 50% 
of care costs at £9.50 
and 50% at the 
higher rate, namely 
£10.80 (in line with 
the current 
differential)   

Again, this choice would appear to be postitive, but 
without providing us with the opportunity to take the 
decision in the context of our assessment of real care 
costs.  This choice would not respond to some aspects 
which have been highlighted by our providers where they 
can evidence higher costs.   

Option C 
Paying the Real 
Living Wate, also 
2% CPI  
5% agency 
overheads 

This choice would go very far towards achieving the aims 
of ‘Let’s Agree to Agree’, enabling stability within the 
market when responding to some of the current concerns.  
However, it would be premature at present to decide on 
this without completing the work on real care costs with 
the market and consider the implications on other services 
provided such as Supported Living and Domiciliary Care.    

 

 

Page 93



 

 

 

9.2  Costs of options  

 
  

Regional Regional              

Category Standard Draft % Option % Option % Option % 

  Fee Fee Increase A Increase B Increase C Increase 

  2020/21 2021/22               

  £ £               

Residential £566.30 £575.19 1.56% £586.32 3.53% £595.97 5.24% £609.96 7.71% 

Residential dementia – 
high dependency 

£629.33 £638.75 1.50% £650.79 3.41% £661.07 5.04% £676.04 7.42% 

Nursing £660.79 £670.88 1.53% £683.90 3.49% £694.75 5.14% £710.65 7.55% 

Nursing dementia – 
high dependency 

£697.07 £708.05 1.57% £722.33 3.62% £734.14 5.32% £751.46 7.80% 

 

At the moment, 1.8% has been set in the Gwynedd draft budget for an increase in 2021/22 residential and nursing fees which 

have calculated 2.2% for the NLW.  Options A, B or C would result in adapting this at an additional cost:    

Option A:  £300k 

Option B:  £600k 

Option C:  £1,027k

P
age 94



 

10 Considerations 

10.1 All options offered consider the effect on market sustainability.  During the time 

of the pandemic, the homes have received additional financial support through 

the Welsh Government Hardship Fund, and also for their PPE.  There is no 

certainty about the continuation of the fund further than the end of March, and 

we will need to consider the situation of homes in that context.   

10.2 We will also return to the work of looking at the real costs of homes as work 

capacity is released following the pandemic period.  This will enable us to 

consider the options for adatpting the funding model in the longer term.     

11 Equality Impact Assessment 

No issues have currently been identified, and we will continue to assess the 

effect as we work with providers on the true cost of care.   

12 Well-being of Future Generations Act  

The Pre Placement Agreement that we hold jointly with the Health Board and 

residential and nursing homes considers the principles of the act, e.g. a 

proactive offer to receive services in Welsh, and sustainability matters.  Our 

work on real care costs and the sustainability of residential care in the long 

term are also aligned with the principles of the act.    

13 Next steps 

Once the Cabinet’s approval to the fees to be paid is received, we will continue 

with the work of assessing real care cost and to present them to discussions on 

2022/23 residential and nursing fees in the autumn.  This will happen alongside 

regional developments and we will include the Government  in the discussion 

regarding our financial ability to achieve the aims of ‘Let’s Agree to Agree’.   

14 Conclusions  

14.1 We believe that we cannot justify choosing the ‘Standard Increase’ since the 

issues which have been highlighted are issues which the care providers could 

evidence are real costs of providing care and therefore our responsibility as 

commissioners to fund.  It is therefore noted that providing a greater increase 

is necessary in order to try and sustain the market.   

14.2 It it also believed that we should not consider Option B since it does not give 

attention to elements where providers can evidence increased costs.   

 

14.3 It is unlikely that Option C is affordable, but also at the same time, it is 

necessary to acknowledge that it would fully solve the problems that we face, 

nor would it be realistic without consideration of all implications.   

Page 95



14.4 Although Option A is insufficient regarding dealing with some of the matters 

existing in the field, it does fund the real costs of care.  This is the most 

reasonable and fair choice considering the evidence offered, as well as the 

maturity of our discussions with the providers.   

15 Recommendation 

 In order to maintain the situation of the market over the coming year as we 

continue with the work of assessing the real costs of providing care, it is 

recommended that the Cabinet decides on Option A at an additional cost of 

£300k for the Council.   

Views of statutory officers 

Chief Finance Officer 

Resources for funding the ‘standard’ inflationary increase to the independent 

residential and nursing homes have already been provided for in the Budget which 

was submitted to full Council on 4th March.  It would have been beneficial for the 

Cabinet to discuss the option to fund the higher cost of this care in a timely fashion, 

with the remainder of the ‘bids’ considered for 2021/22.   

I appreciate some of the arguments submitted by providers regarding their care 

costs, but I note that they have not yet ‘opened their accounts’ for us.  Therefore, I 

believe that that discussion has some way to go before we can approve steps 

towards much more expensive options.   

However, I note that the recommendation of the Adults Department to the Cabinet 

is to increase the level of residential and nursing fees to the ‘Option A’ level, and I 

confirm that this would result in an additional cost of £300k to the Council.  If the 

Cabinet are convinced, then it would be possible to fund this cost from contingency 

funds, but of course that would reduce the flexibility for us to address any 

unexpected blows during 2021/22.     

Monitoring Officer 

The report acknowledges that by now establishing a framework for private care 

home fees is challenging. The recommendation which acknowledges a need to 

undertake a review of the system is a sensible one. 

 

 

Page 96



Meeting:  Cabinet 

Date:   9 March 2021 
 
Cabinet Members: Councillor Ioan Thomas, Cabinet Member for Finance, and 

Councillor Gareth Thomas, Cabinet Member for Economic Development 
and Community 

 
Subject:  The effect of Covid-19 on Byw’n Iach’s 2021/22 Budget 

Contact Officer: Dafydd L Edwards, Head of Finance 
 

 
DECISION SOUGHT: 

The Cabinet is asked to authorise the Head of Finance, in consultation with the 

Head of Legal Services and the Head of Economy and Community, to provide a 

letter of assurance extending the period of assurance already given to the Byw’n 

Iach company until the end of the 2021/22 financial year, as provided for in the 

agreement with the company. 

 

Background 

1. At the Cabinet meeting of 19 May 2020, the report was presented by Cllr Ioan Thomas’, 

noting the possible gap in the 2020/21 budget, due to the Covid-19 virus crisis, and 

noting the efforts of the Leader and officials to ensure appropriate funding options 

from Welsh Government.  

2. It was noted that the situation at that time was fragile in all local authorities, with 

declining income and higher expenditure during the crisis period. However, Gwynedd 

Council had stepped forward to respond and urgent action taken to look after its 

residents and services. 

3. It was reported that the loss would depend on the duration of the crisis, the effect of 

the restrictions, and the amount of any Welsh Government grant.  The expectation was 

that Welsh Government would fund Gwynedd Council's additional expenditure, but in 

May 2020, there was no certainty if the Government would contribute towards local 

authority income losses.  

 

Previous Decision 

4. Therefore, on 19 May 2020, the Cabinet had to consider how to cope with the possible 

gap in Gwynedd Council and Byw’n Iach’s budget due to significant income losses due 

to the crisis. 

5. However, whilst noting that Byw’n Iach would have financial losses as a result of the 

restrictions of the Covid-19 crisis, the Cabinet confirmed that it was willing to provide 

the necessary financial support to maintain the services of the Byw’n Iach company 

initially, until the end of the 2020/21 financial year.  

  

Page 97

Agenda Item 10



6. It was decided to authorise the Head of Finance, in consultation with the Head of Legal 

Services and the Head of Economy and Community, to provide a letter of assurance to 

the company.  The Head of Finance sent the letter to the Chair of the Byw’n Iach Cyf 

Board of Directors on 19 June 2020, confirming that Gwynedd Council would be 

supporting the company financially until at least 31/03/2021. 

Developments in 2020/21 

7. By now, we know of course that Welsh Government has contributed fairly from their 

Hardship Fund towards local authority income losses in 2020/21.  Also, we have 

claimed money from HMRC’s Furlough scheme whilst the Leisure centres have been 

closed.  It is expected that we will have claimed a total of over £3m of support in 

2020/21 on behalf of Byw’n Iach leisure services: £1.8m from the Welsh Government, 

as well as £1.2m of Furlough.  

 

Expectations by 2021/22 

8. Unfortunately, the side effect of the Covid-19 crisis is likely to continue in 2021/22. 

Restrictions of some kind could be in place throughout 2021, and Byw’n Iach face the 

challenge of building the confidence of their customers. With that in mind, and 

uncertainties due to factors such as the development of the virus, the success of the 

vaccination scheme, Welsh Government regulations, etc, the company commits to work 

very closely with the Council in moving forward during the year. 

9. Practically, the opinion of Gwynedd Council remains certain that an arms-length 

company model is the most suitable to meet its aspirations in the leisure industry, and 

we will continue to maintain the close relationship with Byw’n Iach Cyf to ensure its 

continued financial viability. 

 

Recommendation 

10. Therefore, it is recommended that the Council extends the period of assurance that 

was introduced to the company in 2020/21 into the next financial year, confirming 

should the Covid-19 crisis continue that Gwynedd Council will financially support the 

company at least until 31/03/2022.  

11. This assurance of financial support will enable the company to continue to trade legally 

from 1 April 2021 until the end of the financial year.  

 

Financial Implications 

12. Using 2021/22 as a basis, the loss of income was £1.8m, and therefore it is not 

anticipated that the cost of keeping Byw’n Iach viable would be above this amount in 

2021/22.  

13. If the impact of the Covid-19 crisis continues in 2021/22, it is a reasonable budgetary 

assumption that the Welsh Government will continue to compensate the Council for 

the income losses in the next financial year. 

  

Page 98



14. Therefore, whilst the potential cost of providing the company with the necessary 

financial support is open ended, compared to the similar consideration in May 2020, 

there is now a greater likelihood that the Government will take on a significant 

proportion of the cost.  

_________________________________________________________________________ 

Opinion of local member 

Not a local matter 

 

 

Views of the Statutory Officers 

Monitoring Officer: 

There is provision in the contract with the Byw’n Iach company which allows the Council to 

adapt it’s contractual contributions. The recommendation allows for the extension of the 

warrant given for 2020/21 in order to enable the company to maintain it’s activities which, as 

noted in the report, accord with the Council’s strategic objectives. 

Head of Finance: 

I have collaborated with the Cabinet Members in the preparation of this report and I confirm 

the content.   

Page 99


	Agenda
	5 MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 16 FEBRUARY 2021
	6 TRANSFER OF LEASE AND MANAGEMENT OF COED HELEN - CAERNARFON
	7 STRATEGIC SAFEGUARD PANEL PROGRESS REPORT 2018-2020
	Eitem 7 - Adroddiad Panel Strategol Diogelu 18-20

	8 RESPONSE TO THE CONSULTATION ON THE WHITE PAPER: RE BALANCING CARE AND SUPPORT
	Eitem 8 - Cwestiynau'r Ymgynghoriad Terfynol
	Eitem 8 - Y ddogfen ymgynghori

	9 RESIDENTIAL AND NURSING FEES 2021-22
	10 THE EFFECT OF COVID-19 ON BYW'N IACH'S 2021-22 BUDGET

